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Financial Highlights

Year ended D~tettzher31, fin fbou.and~ ex.eptper bare data)

1998 7. change 1997 1996
Statement of Operations Data

Total Revenues $1,337,449 79.0% $ 747,321 $ 478,385

Funds From Operations (FFO) 458,841 69.5% 270,763 160,267
FFO Per Share ~dy Diluted) 4.05 11.37. 3.64 3.10

Ditridends Paid Per Share 2.72 6.7% 2.55 2.40

Balance Sheet Data

Total Assets $10,700,260 50.8% $7,094,631 $2,986,127

Total Liabilities 4,938,439 57.770 3,131,236 1,376,660

Shareholders’ Equi~ 5,330,447 44.5% 3,689,991 1,458,830
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95 96 97 98 95 96 97 98

Acquisitions
Growth
nltnzber of utzifs in thousands

I

Revenue
Growth
amounts in nlil[ions

95 96 97 98 95 96 97 98

Featured on the cover is the clubhouse at The Madison at River Sotm~ an Atlanta property acquired

in October of 1998. Applying its proven Equity Pricing Philosophy, Equity Residential increased occu-

pancy at the property from 80 percent to 95 percent in just 60 days.



To Our Fellow Shareholders

In 1998, we continued to set-and reach-ambitious goals. For the first

time, our revenues passed the billion-dollar mark. Net income climbed by

46 percent over 1997 levels. Funds from operations (FFO), one of the

best single measures of our performance, grew to $458.8 million, or

$4.05 per share. We completed the largest acquisition ever in the

residential real estate market and added a total of more than 200

properties to our portfolio. In its first year of operation, our newly

established development business began work on 5,000 new apartments,

Our conservative financial management has helped us earn investment

grade ratings and improved our access to capital, even in a tight market.

By nearly every measure, our performance has been exceptional, despite a rough ride

for REITs in 1998. A flood of capital into real estate raised prices beyond sustainable

levels. iMeanwhile, industry analysts noted that building permits – although not necessarily

building starts – had risen dramatically, suggesting that the industry might soon suffer from

overbuilding. At the same time, economists predicted a general economic slowdown,

which historically has been particularly hard on real estate.

As strange as it may sound, we think that the correction in REIT stock prices has

been good for the industry and for us. The market correction curtailed the flow of

capi~al, which has slowed price increases and reined in new development projects. The

correction also demonstrated that the transparency liquidity, accountability and

predictability of the public capital markets have helped to modulate real estate cycles.

Although publicly traded REITs are only a fraction of the entire real estate market, they

have changed the way the industry does business, The financial information REITs are

required to provide makes it easier for investors to track the performance of the entire

real estate industry and allows them to shut off the flow of capital before massive

overbuilding can take place.

A Strong Portfolio

Most of all, the recent turmoil casts the strength of our portfolio into sharp relief.

Our “mutual fund” strategy of diversifying our properties across 35 markets insulates us

from the impact of economic downturns or overbuilding in any single market and produces

more predictable earnings. At the same time, we have the critical mass of properties

needed to lower our costs and improve our value for our residents and investors alike.

Reduced capital flows – and a slowdown in the pace of acquisitions – also give us

time to catch our breath. After acquiring an average of 175 apartments a day for the

past two years, we welcome the opportunity to focus more intently on improving the

efficiency and effectiveness of our business. We have revamped our core business

applications, including our property management system, to make them much more

flexible and productive. The new information we gain will enable us to better spot patterns

and trends and duplicate best practices across our entire organization. The use of the

Internet and our internal Intranet for communications, research, training and marketing



is improving our productivity and helping us combine the responsiveness of a small,

decentralized organization with a large corporation’s stability and resources.

We intend to get more from our properties, right from the start. As we have built

what is, by far, the nation’s largest apartment company, we have gained invaluable

experience not just in acquiring properties but in integrating them into our organization.

We demonstrated that expertise in our integration of the Evans Withycombe properties

we acquired late in 1997 and in our $2.2 billion acquisition of Merry Land & Investment

Company, the apartment industry’s largest acquisition, in 1998. A multidisciplinary in-house

t~am that includes accounting, human resources, asset management and information

systems professionals went to work even before the acquisitions were completed to

ensure that the transitions were seamless.

New Economies

Cost control is a key element in all of our plans. We’re working even harder to use our

economies of scale to reduce our costs. For example, developing our own private label

carpeting for our properties and buying it direct from the mill has saved millions of

dollars. Now, in markets where our concentration of properties makes it economically

feasible to do so, we’re seeking even greater savings by bringing contract services, such as

appkancerepairancllandscaping, in-house. Our size also helps us achieve new economies

in areas such as marketing, where we can spread advertising and other costs across a wide base.

Our communities are a marketer’s dream – and we’re capitalizing on it. When you

calculate the number of units we own, the average number of people who live in each

one and our average turnover rates, we serve close to three-quarters of a million people

a year– people who typically are young and have large amounts of disposable income. We

are working to further strengthen our relationships with our residents and to make those

relationships more valuable by working cooperatively with other businesses that want to

market their products or services in our communities. Our initial efforts with telephone car-

riers, cable television companies, utilities and others have shown that such alliances can

improve our service and our income. Now, we are thinking bigger and offering the

Opportunhiesafforded by our size and scope to a wide range of potential marketingpart-

ners. Successfully tested in Atlanta and other markets, our innovative Rent with Equity

program, featured in this report, allows residents to apply a portion of their rents to a

down payment on a home built by a local builder. We also are exploring special niche

marketing programs aimed at military personnel, students, corporate transferees and others.

As prices for existing properties have increased, it has become more attractive for

us to build new ones. In its first year of operation, our development organization

committed more than $500 million to new- development projects. Our joint venture with

Lincoln Property Company, a national multifamily residential developer, gives us access

to a large number of opportunities and allows us to carefully control the standards of

each project, which will help assure lower long-term maintenance costs. Taking a highly

disciplined approach, we concentrate on high barrier-to-entry markets and typically do

not take ownership until the properties are built and partially leased.



Close to Residents

We have taken a corporate approach to real estate, which has improved both resident

satisfaction and the performance of our properties. Combining a national portfolio with

strong local management reduces risks and costs while allowing us to maintain an

entrepreneurial spirit and provide superior service to each resident. In 1998, we continued

to keep the day-to-day management of our properties as close to our residents as possible

by opening new offices. We now have 30 management offices across the country.

What’s more, our experience has titught us the importance – and power – of people,

We have one of the largest, most professional workforces in our industry. Modeling

our efforts on some of the most respected companies in America, we have established

what we believe to be the best training and development program in our industry. Our

compensation and benefits, including a company-wide profit sharing plan, encourage

fresh thinking and allow everyone to share in the rewards of growth. Employees not

only can move up in the organization, they often can stay with the company if they

move to another part of the country. At every level, our team has what it takes to

consolidate a fragmented industry and set the standard for its performance. And that

is exactly what we intend to do.

Although conditions in capital markets are urdikely to improve dramatically in 1999,

we still expect to continue our progress. A reduced flow of capital will slow, but not

halt, our acquisitions, and we plan to add as much as $300 million of property to our

portfolio. We also plan to continue to expand our development efforts, particularly in tie

Northeast. Low interest rates, which make it attractive for our residents to purchase

homes, will tend to limit rent increases, so cost controls and our ability to develop new

sources of income will become even more important. We’ll face challenging times, but

meeting these tests will help to make us stronger, set us apart from others in our industry

and prepare us to do even better – by every measure – in the future. We look forward to it.

]Ap
Samuel Zel.i
Chairmanof the Boardof Trustee~

)Douglas Crocker II
Pre~idetztand Cbi# Executive Ofjcer

March 10,1999
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.l~.i~EKIA~!~fieS 15 properties, adding 4,645 units-to p,i;rtfolio. l~ational portfolio reaches 140,467 units.

!?~tiourlces sale of 4 million Common Shares, ~epresenting a total offering of approximately

$201 million.

—=. ..——~+~~1.k~~~-orts- f997 year end and fourth ‘quartt;r re~sults, FFO increased 180/0 and total revenues

increas,sd 56?L over 1996.

.:~m-rgm—-‘--—---ec~ares first quarter dividend of ‘$0.67 per Common Share.
. . .

=l=~~i~e~;roperties consisting of 2,542 units. National portfolio reaches 500 properties

and 143,009 t~.nits, Adds to presence in Texaa, Minnesota and the Northeast.

~+- ---- ~~
~~fl;=~uires 7-p:coperties, in separate transactions, totaling 2,436 u~ts. National portfolio ‘“

reaches 144,707 units.

ThV~ePorts Ffisi quarter results. ~Fc) incre;ises 11;4°/0 from first quarter of 1997.

;!~~~larei> kecolid quarter dividend of $0.67 per Common Share.

<-~~~nters l.nto agreement with Lincoln ‘Pr;~perty ComI~any to acquire a 25-property, 5,774-
— ,,

unit portfolio for a proposed acquisition price of $4.65 million.

~K[<f*~-—=~fT~?operties, in separate ‘transacti;~;s, consisting of 3,088 units. National
,-_. _—-- .,.

portfolio reaches 515 properties consisting of 147,45’9 units.

-~ ~~=E@ns ].incoln transaction by adding 17~;o~,erties consisting of 3,775 units to portfolio.
.—.. .

Equity llesidential now owns 532 properties consisting of 151,234 units.

“~:. Acquires 6 properties, in separate transactions, consisting of 1,319 units.

~~*hnounces merger with Merry Land & Investment Company, a $2.2 billion transaction

creating an $11 billion entity. ,’–

.LY[F~KK~~=-~.d quartei results. FFO increases 10°/0 from second quarter of 1997 and

llVO frolm six months ended June 30, 19’97.

Announ(;es $100 million repurchase of Common Shares.

~~~—~ieleb~dtes fifth year as a public company:

~;=eclares third quarter dividend of $0.67 per Common Share.

-—.—-c- =——- -—-—–——–. . . .-~ ,~T~i~Lu~.~_~UrChaseS 2.4 mllllon Common Shares wo-;th–$94.5 rniuion on th; o-pen market.

‘~~fi.~1~-~~-hzieho]d~rs approve merger with Merry Land & Investment Company, creating
. . ...

an $11 b;Won entity.

‘~~]~-~-~mP1efie~~s-r-gYtith~errY Land, addilng 118 prop(>rties consisting of 34,990 ufits to the

portfolio, As a restdt of the merger, EquiqT Residential owns 682 properties in 35 states
.—~.=,=.=

consisting of 192,698 units.
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~eports- Rid quarter results. FFO increases 9.7°A from third quarter of 1997 and 16.4%

.=-k_.. ... _-
=.—,,=

from nine months ended September 30, 1’997,
-=—x=.=,.-
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~~ !~-Declares fourth quarter dti-dend of $0.71 per Commor~ Share.







We dso can afford to invest

in innovation. One example

is our effort to capitalize on

the power of the Internet. At

EQR.tom, prospective

residents can review our

properties and complete an

application wifiout leaving
their homes. People who are

relocating to a new area can

find an apartment before

they arrive. We’re taking an

equally innovative approach

to developing new sources

of revenue
Our cooperative opportunities

program links a wide variety

of businesses, from dry

cleaners to cable television

providers, to the residents of

our properties. Our operatig

agreements with regional Bell

operating companies and others

are producing a growing

revenue stieam, and they are

just the beginning.

In Atlanta,
Equity Residentja\~

parnela Evans and Ricl<
Conner (right), greet

Tara and Gary I<ing and
their son I<yle at a

model of the I<ings’ new

home, purchased with
the help of the Rent
with Equity program.

ams in reach

By far one of the most rewarding initiatives

is our unique Rent with Equity program.

Recognizing that many of our residents want to

own their own homes one day, we have worked

to make it easier for them to do so, while we

retain them as long as possible. Residents can

accrue up to 25 percent of their rent and apply

that money towards the purchase of a new

home. They can realize their dream of owning

a home, homebuilders can streamline their

sales, and we increase our revenues and
;resident satisfaction. ,-
.0
.:.
:
.>.-.
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We’re committed to

mastering every element of

our work, including marketing.

As a Fortune 500-sized

organization, we can attract

top marketing talent and make

the most of their thinking.

Relying on prepackaged

components that have

proven their effectiveness,

we can implement a complete

property marketing program,

including direct mail, radio

and television advertising,

displays and promotional

contests, in as little as three

days. Applying the advantage

of our nationwide network

of properties, our Coast-to-

Coast program encourages

transferees to relocate to

another Equity Residential

property by eliminating any
. .

appbcauon or termination fees.

{rst in service

The same professionalism

guides our acquisitions.

After completing three,

billion-dollar mergers in the

past two years, we have become

experts at the process.

To smooth the transition,

the property manager of each

newly acquired property is

assigned a mentor from one

of our established properties

to help explain how we work

and provide fast answers to

any questions that arise.

Meanwhile, our training

begins even before the merger

is completed. Our proven

aPProachy ~ghly competitive
salaries and benefits, stock

and profit sharing plans and

exceptional career opportunities

have made us the acquirer

of choice and helps assure

that prospective sellers

come to us first.

Shown speaking with
a resident of Marymont,
near Bethesda,

Marketing Director
Clancy Weaver led the

development of a new

program to serve
members of the military.

Specialized marketing programs help

us expand our customer base. A new effort

aimed at members of the armed services

is attracting a growing number of military

personnel to our properties in Maryland,

Texas, California, Washington and other states.

We also are increasing our efforts aimed at

large corporations, offering a nationwide

solution to their relocation needs. Working

with universities, we have developed special

programs aimed at students, with leases and

terms tailored to their particular requirements.

I





r

After properties are acquired,

we move quickly to improve

their performance and fieir

resuhs. Our asset management

team analyzes all proposed

improvements to help ensure a

satisfactory return on investment.

Each property in newly

acquired portfolios is examined

carefully, ancl those that do not

meet our svandards or that are

located outside our markets

are sold to generate additional

funds for growth. In 1998, we

sold 20 properties for more

than $170 miLlion.

the future

We are working to achieve

these benefits while we

carefully manage our risks.

Our joint venture with

Lincoln Property Company

gives us access to projects

across the country without

the costs associated with

maintaining a large staff. Our

in-house development officers

and analysts focus on markets

where limits on building

permits and other factors

constrain new cons Wuction,

and they approve only a

fraction of the proposals they

receive. Rather than building

on the fringes of urban areas,

we concen~ate on in-fill areas

that already have been

developed, where there is

typically less competition and

rents tend to be higher. An

in-house inspection team,

which prides itself on having

the highest standards in the

industry, oversees every step of

Our development efforts are another I(ey part

of maintaining a strong portfolio. Building new

properties helps to produce a steady stream of

stable earnings, gives us a stronger presence

in I<ey marl(ets and allows for more control

over the design, quality and location of our

properties – and our future.

Members of Equity

Residential’s in-house
development staff meet with

joint venture partners from
Lincoln Property Company

at Culbreath I(ey, a luxury
waterfront property under
construction in Tampa.

Pictured from left are

Bill Donohue, Dave Gi16
Lincoln partners Todd Farrell

and Jeff Franzen (standing)
Don Couvillion and

Don Macl(enzie.

the process to ensure that our

specifications are met.
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At Equity Residential, all of the pieces are in place.

Our size and economies of scale enable us to put more into our projects

and to gain more value from them.

We have the resources to inveslt in better ways of doing business, in new

sources of revenue and in innovative marl{ eting.

Our expertise in acquiring, developing and managing our properties

improves our performance and helps us attract the people we need to

continue our growth.

We mal{e a good home–for our residents, investors and employees.

Index to Financial Information

Selected Financial Data 18 ~

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 19 ~

Consolidated Financial Statements 24 ‘~

Notes to Consolidated Statements 30 ~
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Selected Financial Data
(At>Jou.ts in thousands ex.ptj.persb.re andpr~e~ data)

Year En&d Decettzber 31,

I 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
Operating Data —— I

Total revenues

Income before gain on disposition of properties,
extraordinary items and allocation to Minority Interests

Net income

Net income avaiIableto Common Shares

Net income per weighted average Common Share outstanding

Net income per weighted average Common Share

outstanding - assuming dilution

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding

Weighted average Common Shares outstantig - assuming dilution

Distributions declared per Common Share outstanding

$ 1,337,449 # 747,321
~390J384

$ 231,034

$ 255,032 $ 176,014 $ 97,033 $ S9,738

$ 101,624 $ 67,719 $ 34,418

$ 165,289 $ 117,S80

$ 1.65 $ 1.79 $ 1.70 $ 1.68 $ 1.34

$ 1.63 $ 1.76 $ 1.69 $ 1.67 .$ 1.34

100,370 6S,729 42,586 34,358— 25,621

112,578 74,281 51,102 43,983 34,206

$ 2.72 $ 2.55 $ 2.40 $ 2.18 $ 2.01

Balance Sheet Data ~at end of period)

Ral estate, before accumulated depreciation(’) $10,942,063 $ 7,121,435 $2,983,510

Real estate, after accumulated depreciation(’) $10,223,572 $ 6,676,673 $2,681,998 $1,970,600 $1,770,735

Total assets $10,700,260 $ 7,094,631 $2,986,127 $2,141,260 $1,847,685

Total debt $ 4,680,527 $ 2,948,323

Minority Interests $ 431,374

Shareholders’ equity $ 5,330,447 $ 3,689,991 $1,458,830 $ 884,517 $ 609,936
i-—

Other Data .“.

Total properties (at end of period)’? 654 463 218 174 163

Total apartment tits (at end of period)~ 187,002 135,200 67,705 53,294 50,704

Funds from operations available to Common Shares and OP Units@) $ 458,841 $ 270,763 $ 160,267 $ 120,965 $ 83,886

Cash flow provided by (used for):
Operating activities $ 533,163 $ 338,035 $ 210,930 $ 141,534 $ 93,997

Investing activities $(1,047,376) $ (1>550>224) $ (635>655) $ (324>018) $ (896,5 15)

Financing activities $ 484,883 $ 1,098,213 $ 558,568 $ 175>874 $ 808,495

(1)Includes appraxirnate~ $96.3 ndllio. and$36 miilion @ construction inprogress as of December 31, 1998 and 199Z re~ectihe~.

(2) InAugust 1995 the Co+a,y al.. made it.J89 milfion mortgagenote investment .ollaterak~ed~ 2! of tb#Additio.alPrape&es. I. Apri[ 1997, tbe Co@ay made its $88 million motig.ge note it~vtstttlentmliaterafi~td~

@ue of $beAddition.[Pr@ertiis. In 1998, thesepr~ertiks were acquired andare no longer inliuded asAddi~ionalPr@edie+ but now are inchdtdas Properties. 1. addition, in Ociober 1998, ibe Conpany conhibnted,ti # the

AddihhnalPropemir hauiig a value of $52.7 n~iifion to six repectivejoint ventures. ~ese 27AdditionalPropetiis constited of 5,193 units of December 31, 1998. These 26 Additional Prop$tii$ con$i.rtedof 5,267 units at
December 37, 1997. ~cAdditionelPropt~ir ure not incb[ded in tbt~e numbers.

(3) ~e Co@aygenera@ considersFFOtobeo,]erneaureof tbepefirma~jce of real estate companie~ indudng a. equip RE~ ~e new d~nition of FFO adopted in March 1995 by tbe Board of Cuver.ors of tbe
Natio,]alAssotiatio,] @ Real Estate Inuestmet!t Tnisis ~~~) dgines FFO as net income (los@ (co+uiedin accordance,uitbgeneral~ accpfidaccounhigpri!l@les (“~), exdudinggains (or losse~from debt

res~dun”ng and sahr of prope@, plus dpren”ahbn on real esfate assetq and afier a~usiments for uflconsolidatedpatinershl>sandjoint uentures. A&ustmentsfor unconso~dattdpa~emb$s and]iint uenhlru are calculatedto

re~ect FFO an tbe sme bask. De Co@uny befieuesthat FFO is be~fil to inuestorrm a measure of thepefomance of at~equi~ @ff because, along m~b cmbjlo~vsfrom operating ad”uitieq~nandng artii,iiiesand in~,esh>g

ad”vities, itprovidts investors on understandingOJtbe abilp of the Co@any to incur and serui?edebt and to moh cqital e~enditr{res. FFO, in and of itse& does not rspresent cashgeneratedfronl operating ach’vihis in accordance
wi?b G.4AP and therefore should not be consideredan aiternatiie to net income as on inditntion OJtbe Co@anyipefortnance or to net casbf70wsfrom operabig Luti’uitiesas detern~it~tdby G4AP as o measzireof Lqliidity undis not

nectssa)i~ indicatii,eof cash auaiLzbletofund cash neeh. ~e Company? culcuiatibnof FFO r@re~ents net income auai[able to Common Sbarw, exdudinggains on dipon”hbns of prope~>s, gains on ear~ extingt{i.rbmentof deb~
and write-o~ of ltno,norti~ed costs on rejnanced deb~pbu dpre,ianbn on real estate asset$ income allocated to bfinotip Interests and amorti~abbn of defemed)nanakg costs relaied io the Predecessor Busittess. The Cott@~ny? ral-

cu[atibn of FFO may d~erfrom tbe ntttbodolo~for calculatingFFO utili~ed by otberREPs and accordin&, may t:ot be cot+urabb to such otberREIT’~. ~e Co@LZtVi cu~cniahbnof FFO for 1995 and 1994 bos been

restated to ref7ectthe effectr of ibe nelv dejnifiin as mefzhbned~bove, FFO for tbeyear endedDettn/ber 31, 1994 includts the @ect of a one-ti>le .bage of @prom’mate& $879,000 for tbe relocation of tbeprope~ management
beadquatiem to Chicago.

I
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IVianagemient’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations

Overview t

The following is a discussion and analysis of the results of operations md
fiancial condition of the Company. Defied terms not defined herein
have the same meaning as defined in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements. Due to the Company’s ability to control the Operating
Partnership, the Management Partnerships, the Financing Partnerships and
the LLCS, and Merry Land DownREIT I LP, each entity has been
consolidated with the Company for financial reporting purposes.

Forward-looking statements in MS report are made pursuant to the safe
harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
The words “believes”,” expects” and “anticipates” and other similar
expressions which are predictions of or indicate future events and trends
and which do not relate solely to historical matters, identi$ fonvard-
looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks
and uncertainties, which could cause actual results, performance, or

achievements of the Company to differ materially from anticipated future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such differences
include, but are not limited to, the following
o alternative sources of capital to the Company are higher than

antiapated; and
● occupancy levels and market rents may be adversely affected

by local economic and market conditions, which are beyond
tie Company’s control.

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-
Iooking statements, which speak ordy as of the date hereof. The
Company undertakes no obligation to publicly release any revisions to
these forward-looking statements, which may be made to reflect events or
circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events.

\
Results of Operations 1.

Since EQR’s IPO and through December 31, 1998, the Company has
acquired direct interests in 623 properties, of which six are under
development (the “Acquired Properties”), containing 175,031 units in the

aggregate for a total purchase price of approximately $10.4 bMon,
including the assumption of approximately $2.6 billion of mortgage
indebtedness and $845.9 million of unsecured notes. The Company’s
interest in six of the Acquired Properties at the time of acquisition
thereof consisted solely of ownership of the debt collateralized by such
Acquired Properties.

The Acquired Properties are presented in the Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Company from the date of each acquisition or the closing
dates of the Mergers. In addition, in August 1995, the Company made its
$89 miiLionmortgage note investment collateralized by 21 of the Additional
Properties and in October 1998, the Company contributed 6 of tie
Additional Properties having a value of $52.7 million to six joint ventures.

The following table summarizes the number of Acquired Properties and
related units acquired by yem

Numberof NmbeI of
YcaIof Numberof P,o~.cti,sU~d., Nurnbaof
Ac~visitiOn

UniSUnd.r
Froperri.s Development units Devet~pme.t

1993 10 — 2,694 —
1994 84 — 26,286 —

1995 17 — 5,035 —

1996 49 — 15,665 —

1997 250 2 68.101 729

1998 207 ..4 fi;143 1,378

Total 617 6 172.924 2.107

From the PO and through December 31,1998, the Company disposed of 38
Properties and a portion of one Prope~, including five propernes containing
1,254 units during 1996 (the “1996 Disposed Properdes’~; seven propernes,

a portion of one property and a vacant land parcel containing 1,336 units
during 1997 (the “1997 Disposed Properties’?; and twenty properties
containing 4,719 units during 1998 (the “1998 Disposed Properdes’~.

The Company’s overall results of operations for the tiee years ended
December 31,1998 have been significantly impacted by the Company’s
acquisition activi~. The significant changes in rental revenues, property and
maintenance expenses, real estate taxes and insurance, depreciation expense,
property management and interest expense can alJprimarily be attributed to
the acquisition of the Acquired Properties. The impact of the Acquired
Properties is discussed in greater detail in the following paragraphs.

Properties that the Company owned for all of both 1998 and 1997 (the
“1998 Same Store Properties’? and Properties that the Company owned
for all of both 1997 and 1996 (the “1997 Same Store Properties”) also

impacted the Company’s results of operations and are discussed as well in
the following paragraphs.

Compankon of the Year Ended December 31, 1998 to the Year E~&d
December 31, 1997
For the year ended December 31, 1998, income before gain on disposition
of properties and flotation to Minority Interests increased by $79 million
when compared to the year ended December 31, 1997. This increase was
primarily due to increases in rental revenues net of increases in property
and maintenance expenses, red estate taxes and insurance, property
management expenses, depreciation expense, interest expense and general
and administrative expenses.

In regard to the fti year 1998 Same Store Properties, which represents
63,243 units, rental income increased by approximately $23.1 million to
$527.3 million or 4.59% primarily as a resdt of higher rental rates charged
to new tenants and tenant renewals, a 1.O1°/oincrease in average economic
occupancy levels and an increase in income from billing tenants for their
share of utility costs. Overall, property operating expenses, which include
property and maintenance, red estate taxes and insurance and an
allocation of property management expenses increased approximately
$5.3 million or 2.65°/0. This increase was primarily the resnh of higher
compensation costs, leasing and advertising costs, utilities, and
maintenance charges.

Proper~ management represents expenses associated with&e self-
management of the Company’s Properties. These expenses increased by

approximately $25.9 rniOion primarily due to the continued expansion of the
Company’s proper~ management business. The 1998 amounts include a fd
year effect of the various offices the Company opened in 1997, including the
Scottsdale Office, which had a significant expansion resulting kom the E\VR
Merger. During 1998, the Company opened new management offices in
Jacksontie and Orlando, Florida and the Company assumed a management
office in Augusta, Georgia, related to tie ~Y Merger.

Fee and asset management revenues and fee and asset management
expenses are associated with the management of properties not owned by
the Company that are managed for af~ates. These net revenues decreased
by $0.9 Won due to the disposition of certain of these properties,
resdting in the Company no longer providing fee and asset management
services to such properties.

Interest expense, including amortization of deferred financing costs,
increased by approximately $125.5 million. This increase was primarily the
~esult of an increase in the Company’s average indebtedness outstanding
which increased by $1.9 billion. However, the Company’s effective interest
costs decreased from 7.50°4 for the year ended December 31, 1997 to
7.lo~o for the year ended December 31, 1998.

General and administrative expenses, which include corporate operating
expenses, increased approximately $6.7 don between the periods under
comparison. This increase was primarily due to the addition of corporate
personnel in the Company’s Human Resources, Accounting, Legal and
Management Information Systems groups, as well as higher compensation
costs, shareholder reporting costs and professional fees. However, by
gaining certain economies of scale with a much larger operation &ese
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expenses asapercentageof total revenues were l.62°/o forthe year ended
December 31, 1998 compared to 2.02V0of total revenues for the year
ended December 31, 1997.

Compankoe of t?zeYear En&d December 31, 1997 to the Year Ended

December 31, 1996
Fortheyear ended December 31, 1997, income before gain on
disposition of properties, extraordinary item and allocation to Minority
Interests increased by $79 million when compared to the year ended
December 31,1996. This increase wasprimarily dueto increasesin
rental revenues net of increases in property and maintenance expenses,
real estate taxes andinsurance, property management expenses,
depreciation, interest expense and general and administrative expenses.
All of the increases in tie various line item accounts mentioned above
can beprimarily attributed to the 1997 Acquired Properties and 1996
Acquired Properties. These increases were partially offset bythe 1997
Disposed Properties andthe1996 Disposed Properties. Theincreasein
interest income of $7.5 million earned on the Company’s mortgage note
investments is primarily attributable to its $88million mortgage note
investment as well as anincrease in interest income earned on its $89
million mortgage note investment.

In regard to tie 1997 Same Store Properties, which represents 49,805
units, rentdrevenues increased byapproximately $ll.9 million or3.1°/o
primarily as a resuh of higher rental rates charged to new tenants and
tenant renewals. Overall propery operating expenses which include
property and maintenance, red estate taxes and insurance and an allocation
of property management expenses decreased approximately $1.5 million or
0.9~o. This decrease was primarily the resuh of lower medical and health
care insurance costs, which resdted in lower payroll costs. In addition, the
Company was successful in reducing its costs for leasing and advertising as
wefl as building, maintenance and grounds costs by consolidating its
vendor services in selected sub-markets in order to obtain volume pricing
discounts and by consolidating its personnel in selected sub-markets where
Properties were centrally located. With respect to the lower medical and
health care hsurance costs, the Company believes this is not a sustainable
trend but only benefited the 1997 resdts.

Property management represents expenses associated wi~ the
management of the Company’s Properties. These expenses increased by

approximately $9.3 don primarily due to the confiued expansion of the
Company’s property management business to facilitate the management of
the Company’s Additional Properties, During 1997, the Company opened
new management offices in Houston, Texas; Ypsilanti, Michigan; I<ansas
City, I<ansas; Irvine, Californi& Minneapolis, Minnesot& Charlotte, North
Carolin~ and Louisville, I<entucky. In addition, the Company assumed a
management office in Tulsa, Oklahoma, related to the Wdsford Merger
and significantly expanded a management office in Scottsdale, Arizona
related to the EWR Merger.

Fee and asset management revenues and fee and asset management
expenses are associated with the management of properties not owned by
the Company that are managed for afffiates. These net revenues decreased
by $0.6 don due to the disposition of certain of these properties,
resulting in the Company no longer providing fee and asset management
services to such properties.

Interest expense, including amortization of deferred financing costs,
increased by approximately $38.3 million. This increase was primarily the
result of an increase in the Company’s average indebtedness outstanding
which increased by 8564.5 million, plimatily due to the W&ford Merger.
However, the Company’s effective interest costs decreased from 7.87°Ain
1996 to 7.5% in 1997.

General and administrative expenses, which include corporate operating
expenses, increased approximately $5.2 million between the years under
comparison. This increase was primarily due to adding corporate
personnel, higher salary costs and shareholder reporting costs as well as an
increase in professional fees. General and administrative expenses as a

percentage of total revenues were 2.02% for the year ended December 31,
1997, which was a slight decrease from 2.06% in 1996.

Litsuiditv and Canital Resources

For the Year Ended December 31, 1998
As of January 1, 1998, the Company had approximately $33.3 million of
cash and cash equivalents and $265 million available on its line of credit
of which $24.7 million was restricted. After taking into effect the various
transactions discussed in the following paragraphs, rash and cash

equivalents at December 31, 1998 were approximately $4 n~on and fie
amounts available on the Company’s lines of credit were $330 million of
which $12 million was restricted. The following discussion also explains
the changes in net cash provided by operaring activities, net cash (used
for) investing activities and net cash provided by financing activities, all
of which are presented in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows.

Part of the Company’s strategy in funding the purchase of muh.ifarnily

properties, funding its Properties in the development stage and the funding
of the Company’s investment in a joint venture with a muhifarnily real
estate developer, excluding those Properties acquired through the Mergers,
is to utilize its line of credit and to subsequently repay the line of credit
from the issuance of additional equity or debt securities or the disposition
of Properties. Udlizing this strategy during 1998 the Company
● issued a total of approximately 8.5 milLion Common Shares through

various offerings and received total net proceeds of $412.5 million;
● issued the 2015 Notes, the August 2003 Notes and the 2000 Notes and

received net proceeds of $542.3 tnillio~
“ mortgaged fifteen previously unencumbered Properties and received net

proceeds of $223.5 million; and
● disposed of twenty properties, which generated net proceeds of

approximately $177 rnil.lion.
All of fiese proceeds were utilized to eithec
● purchase additional properties;
● provide funding for properties in the development stage; and/or
● repay the lines of credit and mortgage indebtedness on certain Properties.

With respect to the 1998 Acquired Properties, the Company issued
21.8 million Common Shares having a value of $1.0 billion and issued the
following preferred shares having a combined liquidation value of
$369.1 million:

● Series 1+Preferred Shares;
0 Series I Preferred Shares;
* Series J Preferred Shares;
0 Series 1<Preferred Shares; and
o SeriesL Preferred Shares.

The Company also assumed mortgage indebtedness, unsecured notes
and a line of credit of approximately $1.2 bfion, issued OP Units having a
value of approximately $205.2 million and issued Junior Convertible
Preference Units having a value of approximately $4.8 million. The cash

portion of these acquisitions were primarily fmded from amounts drawn
on the Company’s lines of credit and proceeds received in comection with
the transactions mentioned in the previous paragraphs.

In December 1997, the Company entered into a joint venture
agreement with a muhifamfly residential real estate developer whereby the
Company will make investments in a limited partnership to fund its
portion of the project cost. During 1997 and 1998, the Company funded
a total of $6.9 tn.ilLionand $23.9 rnilLion and during 1999 the Company
expects to fund approximately $74.9 million in connection with this

agreement. Subsequent to December 31, 1998, the Company has funded
approximately $1 rni~on. In addition, the Company also funded $20

million to guarantee third party construction financing and is obligated to
fund up to an additional $20 million.

In regards to certain other properties that were under development
and/or expansion in 1998, the Company funded $31.6 million. In 1999,
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the Company expects to fund $53.9 million related to the continued
development and/or expansion of as many as five Properties.

In regards to certain properties that were under earnout/development
agreements in 1998, no amounts were fmded. The Company expects to
fund $60.4 million related to tiree e~nout/development projects expected
to be finished during 1999. Subsequent to December 31, 1998, the
Company has funded $16.2 million relating to the completion/acquisition
of Copper Canyon. In addition, the Company maybe required to fund an
additional $1 rniUion earnout payment to the developer for Copper Canyon
if certain specified operation levels are met.

As of December 31, 1998, the Company had total indebtedness of

approximately $4.7 billion, which included mortgage indebtedness of
$2.3 billion (including premiums of $4.5 million), of which $878.3 million
represented tax-exempt bond indebtedness, and unsecured debt of
$2.3 billion (net of a $5.3 million discount), of which $35.6 million
represented tin-exempt bond indebtedness. During the year, the Company
repaid an aggregate of $63.8 rnilLionof mortgage indebtedness on nine of
its Properties. These repayments were fmded from tie Company’s line of
credit or from proceeds received from the various capital transactions
mentioned in the previous paragraphs.

The Company has, from rime to time, entered into interest rate
protection agreements (financial instruments) to reduce the potential
impact of increases in interest rates but believes it has limited exposure to
the extent of non-performance by the counterparties of each protection
agreement since each counterpart is a major U.S. financial institution, and
the Company does not anticipate their non-performance. No such
financial instrument has been used for trading purposes.

In February 1996, the Company entered into a Forward Starting Swap
agreement that will hedge the Company’s interest rate risk at maturity of
$125 don of indebtedness. This agreement hedged the interest rate
risk of the Operating Partnership’s 1999 Notes by locking the effective
four-year Treasury Rate commencing May 15, 1999.

In August 1996, the Company entered into an interest rate protection
agreement to effectively fix the interest rate cost of the Company’s 2026
Notes. The agreement was for a notional amountof$150 million with a
locked in treasury rate of 7.57Y0.

In July 1997, the Company entered into two interest rate protection
agreements to effectively fix the interest rate cost of the Company’s 2001 Notes
and 2003 Notes. One agreement was for a notional amount of $100 don
with a locked in treasury rate of 6.1340/o.The second agreement was for a
notional amount of $75 million with a locked in treasury rate of 6.287°/0.

In April 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate protection

agreement to effectively fix the ~terest rate cost of the Compmy’s 2015
Notes. The agreement was for a notional amount of $300 million with a
locked in treasury rate of 6.63Y0.

In May 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate protection

agreement to effectively fix the interest rate cost of the EVmS Withycombe
Financing Limited Partnership indebtedness to within a range of 5.670 to
6.OVOupon its refinancing. The agreement was for a notional amount of
$131 million with a settlement date of August 2001. There was no initial
cost to the Company for entering into this agreement.

In August 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate protection

agreement to effectively fix the ~terest rate cost of the Company’s
planned financing in the fourth quarter of 1998. This agreement was
cancelled in November at a cost of approximately $3.7 million, This cost
is being amortized over the life of &e fimcing for the 15 previously
unencumbered Properties that occurred k November 1998.

In August 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate swap
agreement *at fixed the Company’s interest rate risk on a portion of
the Operating Partnership’s variable rate tax-exempt bond indebtedness
at a rate of 3.651250/o.This agreement was for a notional amount of
$150 million with a termination date of August 2003.

In August 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement
that fixed the Company’s interest rate risk on a portion of the Operaring
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Partnership’s variable rate tax-exempt bond indebtedness at a rate of 3.683Y0.
This agreement was for a notional amountof$150 million with a termination
date of August 2005.

The fair value of these instruments, discussed above, as of December 31,
1998 approximates their carrying or contract values.

The Company has a policy of capitalizing expenditures made for new
assets, including newly acquired properties and the costs associated with
placing these assets into service. Expenditures for improvements and
renovations that significantly enhance the value of existing assets or
substantially extend the usefi life of an asset are dso capitalized. Capital
spent for replacement-type items such as appliances, draperies, carpeting
and floor coverings, mechanical equipment and certain furniture and
fixtures is also capitalized. Expenditures for ordinary maintenance and
repairs are expensed to operations as incurred. With respect to acquired
properties, the Company has determined that it generally spends $1,000
per unit during its fust three years of ownership to fully improve and
enhance these properties to meet the Company’s standards. In regard to
replacement-type items described above, the Company gener~y expects
to spend $250 per unit on an annual recurring basis.

During the year ended December 31, 1998, total capital expenditures for
the Company approximated $102 million. Of this amount, approximately
$34.1 million related to capital improvements and major repairs for the
1996, 1997 and 1998 Acquired Properties. Capital improvements and
major repairs for W of fie Company’s pre-EQR IPO properties and
1993, 1994 and 1995 Acquired Properties approximated $17.1 million,
or $338 per unit. Capital spent for replacement-type items approximated

$39.4 million, or $257 per unit, which is in line with the Company’s
expected annual recurring per unit cost. Also included in total capital
expenditures was approximately $11.4 million expended for non-real estate
additions such as computer software, computer equipment, and firniture
and fixtures and leasehold improvements for the Company’s property
management offices and its corporate headquarters, Such capital
expenditures were primarily funded from working capital reserves and
from net cash provided by operating activities. Total capital expenditures
for 1999 are budgeted to be approximately$110 million ford properties
or $588 per unit.

~ority Interests as of December 31, 1998 increased by $158 rniUion

when compared to December 31, 1997. The primary factors that impacted
this account during the year were distributions declared to Minority
Interests, which amounted to $30.8 million for the year, the allocation of
its income from operations in tie amount of $18.5 million, the conversion
of OP Units into Common Shares, the assumption of MRY’s minority
interest with a market value of $40.2 million, and issuances of Common
Shares and OP Units during the year.

Total distributions paid in 1998 amounted to $404.5 fion, which included
certain distributions declared in the fourth quarters of 1997 and 1998. The
Company paid a $0.71 per Common Share distribution on December 31,1998
for the quarter ended December 31, 1998 to Common Shareholders and

Minority Interest holders of record as of December 20,1998.
Subsequent to December 31, 1998 and &rough &larch 12, 1999, the

Company acquired five additional properties representing 1,246 units
for a total purchase price of approximately $86.6 million, including the
assumption of approximately 316.9 million of mortgage indebtedness.
These acquisitions were primarily funded from the proceeds obtained from
the sde of certain Properties in 1998 and 1999, The Company is always
seeking to acquire additional multifamily properties with physical and
market characteristics similar to the Properties.

Subsequent to December 31,1998 and through Mch 12,1999, the
Company disposed of six Propernes for a total sales price of $64 million.
These proceeds will be utilized to purchase additional Properdes, The Company
anticipates that it will condnue to sell certain Properties in the portfolio.

The Company expects to meet its short-term liquidity requirements,
including capital expenditures relating to maintaining its existing Properties
and tie funding of Properties in the development stage, generally through

I
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its working capital, net cash provided by operating activities and
borrowings under its lines of credit. The Company considers its cash
provided by operating activities to be adequate to meet operating
requirements and payments of distributions. The Company also expects to
meet its long-term liquidity requirements, such as schedtied mortgage c{ebt
maturities, reduction of outstanding amounts under its lines of credit,
property acquisitions, financing of construction and development
activities and capital improvements through the issuance of unsecured
notes and equity securities including additional OP Units as well as from
undistributed FFO and proceeds received from tie disposition of
certain Properties. In addition, the Company has certain Uncollaterdzed
Properties available for additional mortgage borrowings in the event that
the public capital markets are unavailable to the Company or the cost of
alternative sources of capital to the Company is too high.

The Company has a revolving credit facility with Morgan Guaranty
and Bank of America (as co-agents) to provide the Operating Partnership
with potential borrowings of up to $500 million. This credit facility
matures in November 1999 and will continue to be used to fud property

acquisitions and short term liquidity requirements. As of March 12, 1999,
$145 million was outstanding under this facility.

In connecdon with the MRY Merger, the Company assumed a second
revolving credit facilitywith First Union Bank (as agent) with potential
borrowings of up to $120 rniUion.This revolving credit facilitymatures
in September 2000 and will also be used to tid property acquisitions, costs for
certain Properties under development and short term liquidity requirements. As
of Math 12, 1999,$35 million was outstanding under this ficility.

In comection with the Wellsford Merger, the Company provided a
$14.8 million credit enhancement with respect to bonds issued to finance
certain public improvements at a multifady development project. Pursuant
to the terms of a Stock Purchase Agreement tith Wellsford Real Properties,
Inc. (’WRJ? Newco’~, the Company d agree to purchase up to 1,000,OOCI
shares of ~ Newco Series A Preferred at $25.00 per share over a three-
yeat period ending on May 30,2000. As of March 12, 1999, no shares of
WRP Newco Series A preferred had been acquired by the Company,

In conjunction with the MRY Merger in October 1998, the Company
entered into six joint venture agreements with ~~ Spinco, the entity

spun-off in the MRY Merger. The Company contributed six properties
with an initial value of $52.7 million in return for a 500/o ownership interest
in each joint venture. In return for tie spin-off of certain assets and
liabilities to MRYP Spinco, the Company received (from MRYP Spinco)
a Subordinated Note receivable totaling $20 million, a preferred stock
investment with an initial value of $5 million and a $25 million, one
year, non-revolving Senior Note receivable. At December 31,1998

approximately $18.3 miUion was outstanding on the Senior Note, bearing
interest at LIBOR plus 250 basis points. The Company has a potential
obligation to fund up to an additional $6.7 million under the Senior Note.

For the Year Ended December 31, 1997
As of January 1,1997, the Company had approximately $147.3 million of
cash and cash equivalents and $250 million available on its line of credit.
After taking into effect the various transactions discussed in the following
paragraphs, cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 1997 were

approhately $33.3 million and the amounts available on the Company’s
line of credit were $265 rniUion, of which $24.7 million is restricted. In
adclition, the Company had $6.6 don of proceeds from a property sale
included in deposits-restricted. The following discussion also explains the
changes in net cash provided by operadng activides, net cash (used for)
invesdng activities and net cash provided by financing activities, all of which
are presented in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Part of the Company’s strategy in funding the purchase of mukifarnily
properties, excluding those Properties acqtired through the Mergers, is to
utilize its line of credit and to subsequently repay the line of credit from
the issuance of additional equity or debt securities. Udlizing this strategy
during 1997 the Company

,

.

.

issued a total of approximately 11.9 million Common Shares through
various offerings, other than issuances in connection with the
acquisitions of Properties and received total net proceeds of
approtiately $536.8 million,
completed the offerings of the Series D Preferred Shares and the
Series G Preferred Shares and received net proceeds of approximately
3473,1 million; and
issued the 2017 Notes. the 2001 Notes and the 2003 Notes and received
net proceeds of approximately $345.9 tniUion.
With respect to Property acquisitions during 1997, including tie effects

of the Mergers, the Company purchased 252 Properties containing 68,830
units for a total purchase price of approximately 84,1 billion, including the
issuances of 25.1 million Common Shares, the assumption of EWR’S
minority interest with a market value of approximately $107.3 million, the
liquidation value of $157.5 don for the Series E Preferred Shares and
Series F Preferred Shares, the assumption of mortgage indebtedness and
unsecured notes of approximately $1,3 billion and issuance of OP Units
with a value of approximately $5.3 flon. The cash portion of these
acquisitions were primarily funded from amounts drawn on the Company’s
line of credit and proceeds received in connection with the transactions
mentioned in the previous paragraph.

During the year ended December 31, 1997, tie Company also disposed of
seven properties, a portion of one Property and a vacant land parcel, which
generated net proceeds of approximately $35.8 rnilliom Proceeds from the
dispositions were ukitnately applied to purchase additional Properties,

As of December 31, 1997, the Company had total indebtedness of

approximately $2.9 billion, which included mortgage indebtedness of
$1.6 billion (including premiums of $3.9 million), of which $723 million
represented tax exempt bond indebtedness, and unsecured debt of
$1.4 billion (including net discounts and premiums in the amount of
$5.7 million). During the year, the Company repaid an aggregate of
$113.4 million of mortgage indebtedness on 29 of its Properties. In
addition, the $100 million of floating rate notes due December 22, 1997
were repaid at maturity. These repayments were funded from the
Company’s line of creditor from proceeds received from the various
capital transactions mentioned in previous paragraphs.

During the year ended December 31, 1997, total capital expenditures for
the Company approximated $60 million. Of this amount, approximately
$9.5 million related to capital improvements and major repairs for certain
of the 1995, 1996 and 1997 Acquired Properties. Capital improvements
and major repairs for all of the Company’s pre-EQR IPO properties and
certain Acquired Properties approximated $19.4 rniUion, or $217 per unit.
Capital spent for replacement-type items appro.tiated $21.4 million, or
$239 per unit, which is in line with the Company’s expected amual
recurring per unit cost. Also included in total capital expenditures was

approximately $9.7 don expended for non-real estate additions such as
computer software, computer equipment, and furniture and fitures and
leasehold improvements for the Company’s property management offices
and its corporate headquarters. Such capital expenditures were primarily
fwded from working capital reserves and from net cash provided by
operadng activities.

hfiority Interests as of December 31, 1997 increased by $122.8 million
when compared to December 31, 1996. The primary factors that impacted
this account during the year were the assumption of the EWR minority
interest having a market value of $107.3 million, distributions declared to
Minority Interests, which amounted to $19.1 million for the year, the
allocation of its income from operations in the amount of $13.3 million,
the conversion of OP Units into Common Shares and issuances of
Common Shares during the year.

Year 2000 Issue

The year 2000 issue (“Year 2000”) is the resuh of computer programs
being written using two digits rather than four to define the applicable year.
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Any of the Company’s computer programs that have time-sensitive
hardware and software may recognize a date using “00” as tie year 1900
rather than the year 2000. This cotid resuk in a system failure or
miscalcdations causing disruptions of operations, including, among other
things, a temporary inability to process transactions, collect rents, or
engage in similar normal business activities.

The Company b&eves that it has identified all of its information
technology (“IT”) and non-IT systems to assess tieir Year 2000 readiness.
Critical systems include, but are not limited to: accounts receivable and
rent collections, accounts payable and general ledger, human resources
and payroll (both proper~ and corporate levels), cash management,
fixed assets, all IT hardware (such as desktop/laptop computers, data
networking equipment, telephone systems, fax machines, copy machines,
etc.) and software, and property environmental, health safety and security
systems (such as elevators and alarm systems).

The Company anticipates that previously scheduled system upgrades
to many of its IT systems will remediate any existing Year 2000 problems.
The Company is currently in the process of testing and implementing tie
majority of its Year 2000 IT and non-IT system projects with completion
anticipated during the second or third quarter of 1999. The Company has
esdmated that the total Year 2000 project cost will approximate fl million,
of which approximately 700/0has been incurred as of December 31, 1998.
During rhe fourth quarter of 1998, the primary focus of the Year 2000
remediation efforts was on testing and implementing existing and new IT
systems and on assessing the Company’s exposure regarding non-IT
systems at property sites. Of the remaining $300,000 budgeted to complete
&e Company’s Yeat 2000 remediation projec~ approximately $150,000 has
been allocated to engage Year 2000 consultants to help the Company
monitor its IT compliance progress and to complete ~a.i IT testing and
implementation. The remaining $150,000 has been allocated to ~emediate
non-IT systems at various property sites. The estimates are based on
management’s best esdrnates, which were derived udlizing numerous
assumptions of fiture events, and there can be no guarantees that these
estimates will be achieved.

In some cases, various third party vendors have been queried on their
Year 2000 readiness. The Company continues to query its significant
supptiers and vendors to determine the extent to which the Company’s

interface systems are vulnerable to &ose third parties’ failure to remecliate
their own Year 2000 issues. To date, the Company is not aware of any
significant suppliers or vendors with a Year 2000 issue that wotid
materiaUy impact the Company’s resuks of operations, Iiquidily, or capital
resources. However, there can be no assurances that the systems of oker
companies, on which the Company’s systems rely, will be drnely converted
and would not have an adverse effect on the Company’s systems.

Management of the Company believes it has an effective program in
place to resolve the Year 2000 issue in a timely manner. In addition, the
Company has commenced its contingency planning for critical operational
ateas that might be affected by the Year 2000 issue if compliance by
the Company is delayed. Aside from catastrophic failure of banks or
governmental agencies, the Company believes that it codd continue its
normal business operations if compliance by the Company is delayed. The
Company does not believe that the Year 2000 issue will materially impact
its results of operations, liquidity or capital resources.

Funds from Operations

Commencing in 1996, the Company implemented the new definition of
FFO adopted by the Board of Governors of NAREIT in March 1995.
The new definition primarily etiates the amortization of deferring
financing costs and depreciation of non-real estate assets as items added
back to net income when calctiating FFO.

The Company generally considers FFO to be one measure of the
performance of real estate companies including an equity REIT. The
resolution adopted by the Board of Governors of NAREIT defines FFO
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as net income (loss) (computed in accordance with GAAP), excluding gains
(or losses) from debt restructuring and sales of property, plus deprec~auon
on real estate assets, and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships
and joint ventures. Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint
ventures are calculated to reflect FFO on the same basis. The Company
believes that FFO is helpfi.d to investors as a measure of the performance
of an equity REIT because, along with cash flows from operating activities,
bancing activities and invesdng activities, it provides investors an under-
standing of the ability of the Company to incur and service debt and to
make capital expenditures. FFO in and of itself does not represent cash
generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP and therefore
shotid not be considered an alternative to net income as an indication of
the Company’s performance or to net cash flows from operating activities
as determined by GAAP as a measure of liquidity and is not necessarily
indicative of cash available to fund cash needs. The Company’s calcdation
of FFO represents net income available to Common Shares, excluding
gains on dispositions of properties, gains on early extinguishment of debt,
and write-off of unamortized costs on refinanced debt, plus depreciation
on real estate assets, income allocated to Minority Interests and
amortization of deferred financing costs related to the Predecessor
Business. The Company’s calculation of FFO may differ from the
methodology for calculating FFO utilized by other REIT’s and, accordingly,
may not be comparable to such other REI’T’s.

For the year ended December 31, 1998, FFO increased $188.1 million
representing a 69.50/0increase when compared to the year ended
December 31,1997. For the yeat ended December 31,1997, FFO
increased by $110.5 million representing a 690/oincrease when compared
to the year ended December 31, 1996.

The following is a reconciliation of net income available to Common
Shares to FFO available to Common Shares and OP Units for the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 (amounts are in thousands):

Year Erzded December 31,
1998 1997 1996

Net income avsilable
toCommon Shaces $165,289 $ 117,580 $ 72,609

Adjustment.
Income allocated to

Minority Interests 18,529 13,260 14,299
Depreciation on

real estate assets* 296,691 1S3,526 91,174
Amortization of deferred

fiancing costs related to
predecessor business 35 235 1,075

Write-off of unamortized
costs on tefiauced debt — 3.512-,

Gain on disposition
of properties (21,703) (13,838) (22,402)

FFO avdable to
Comon Sbsres
and OP Ufdts $458,841 $ 270,763 $160,267

*Includes $183,000 related to the Co@any? share of dpretiation from utlconsolidntedjoint uen.fztresforthe

~ear ended December 31, ~998.

..
u



Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Anloursts in fbousanh ex.~tfirxbare amounts,)

December 31,

1998 1997

Assets

Invesment in real estate

Land

Depreciable property

Construction in progress

Accumulated depreciation

Investment in red estate, net of accumulated depreciation

Real estate held for deposition

Cash and cash equivalents

Investment in mortgage notes, net

Rents receivable

Deposits – restricted

Escrow deposits – mortgage, net

Deferred financing costs, net

Other assets

Total assets

$ 1,326,148 $ 791,980

9,519,579 6,293,415

96,336 36,o4o

10,942,063 7,121,435

(718,491) (444,762)

10,223,572 6,676,673

29,886 —

3,965 33,295

88,041 176,063

4,758 3,302

69,339 36,374

68,725 44,864

27,569 23,092

184.405 100.968

$10,700,260 $7,094,631

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Liabilities:

Mortgage notes payable

Notes, net

Lines of credit

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Accrued interest payable

Rents received in advmce and other liabilities

Security deposits

Distributions payable

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Minority Interests

Shareholders’ equi~

Preferred Shares of beneficial interest, $.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized,

29,097,951 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 1998 and

15,343,500 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 1997

Common Shares of beneficial interest, $.01 par valu~ 350,000,000 shares

authorized, 118,230,009 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 1998

and 89,085,265 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 1997

Paid in capital

Employee notes

Distributions in excess of accumulated earnings

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$ 2,341,011 $ 1,582,5S9

2,049,516 1,130,764

290,000 235,000

100,926 67,699

46,176 28,048

54,616 38,750

37,439 28,193

18,755 20,223

4,938,439 3,131,236

431,374 273,404

1,410,574 1,041,713

1,182 891

4,169,102 2,785,661

(4,873) (5,145)

(245,538) (133,129)

5,330,447 3,689,991

$10,700,260 $7,094,631



Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Amountsi. tbousankexceptjrpersharedata)

Year En&d December 31,

1998 1997 1996

Revenues

Rental income $ 1,293,560 $ 707,733 $ 454,412

Fee and asset management 5,622 5,697 6,749

Interest income – investment in mortgage notes 18,564 20,366 12,819

Interest and other income 19,703 13,525 4,405

Total revenues 1,337,449 747,321 478,385

Expenses

Property and maintenance

Real estate taxes and insurance

Property management

Fee and asset management

Depreciation

Interesti

Expense incurred

kortization of deferred financing costs

General and administrative

Total expenses

Income before gain on disposition of properties,

extraordinary item and allocation to Mnority Interests

Gain on disposition of properties, net

Income before extraordinary item and allocation to Minority Interests

Write-off of unamortized costs on refinanced debt

Income before allocation to Minority Interests

Income allocated to Minority Interests

Net income

Preferred distributions

Net income available to Common Shares

Weighted average Common Shines outstanding

Distributions declared per Common Share outstanding

Tax treatment of distributions (unaudited)

Ordinary income

Return of capital

Long-term capital gain

Unrecaptured section 1250 gain

Net income per weighted average Common Sh=e outstanding

326,567

126,009

52,705

4,207

301,869

246,585

2,757

21.718

176,075

69,520

26,793

3,364

156,644

121,324

2,523

15.064

1~7,172

44,128

17,512

3,837

93,253

81,351

4,242

9.857

1,082,417 571,307 381,352

255,032 176,014 97,033

21,703 13,838 22,4o2

276,735 189,852 119,435
— — (3,512)

276,735 189,852 115,923

(18,529) (13,260) (14,299)

258,206 176,592 101,624

(92,917) (59,012) (29,015)

$ 165,289 $ 117,580 $ 72,609

100,370 65,729 42,586

$ 2.72 $ 2.55 $ 2.40

$ 2.14 $ 2.24 $ 1.88

$ 0.52 $ 0.26 $ 0.43

$ 0.01 $ 0.05 $ 0.09

$ 0.05 $–$–

$ 1.65 $ 1.79 $ 1.70

Net income per weighted average Common Share

outstanding – ass-g dilution $ 1.63 $ 1.76 $ 1.69

Seeacco~anyingrioter.



Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Amountsi. tbousanh)

Year En&d December 31,

1998 = 1997 1996

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Income allocated to Minority Interests

Depreciation

Amortization of deferred financing costs

(including discounts and premiums on debt)

Amortization of discount on investment in mortgage notes

Gain on disposition of properties, net

Write-off of unamortized costs on refianced debt

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) in rents receivable

(Increase) in deposits – resuicted

(Increase) decrease in other assets

(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses

Increase in accrued interest payable

(Decrease) increase in rents received in advance and other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

$ 258,206

18,529

301,869

799

(3,0E)

(21,703)

—

(1,456)

(13,147)

(8,787)

(3,601)

7,546

$ 176>592

13,260

156,644

2,170

(3,100)

(13,838)

—

(1,373)

(23,183)

(13,708)

20,235

12,224

$ 101,624

14,299

93,253

4,558

(613)

(22,402)

3,512

(409)

(556)

158

9,901

4,383

(2,077) 12,112 3,222

533,163 338,035 210,930

I

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Investment in real estate, net

Improvements to real estate

Additions to non-real estate property

Net proceeds from disposition of real estate

Purchase of management contract rights

(Increase) decrease in mortgage deposits

Deposits on real estate acquisitions

Decrease (increase) in investment in mortgage notes, net

Investment in limited partnerships

Costs related to Mergers

Other investing activities

Net cash (used for) investig activities

(99238) (1,190,380) (641,015)

(90,608) (50,246) (33,001)
(11,412) (9,754) (2,347)

174,796 35,758 40,093

(129) (5,000) —

(20,499) (25,521) 1,311

(18,451) 7,946 (1,809)

2,853 (86,367) 1,171

(23,946) (6,900) —

(50,239) (176,908) —

(17,503) (42,852) (58)

(1,047~76) (1,550,224) (635,655)

(Cotifinuedon nextpage)

See acco~a~ing IIotes.



Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Amottntsintholtrank)

Year En&d December 31,

1998 1997 1996

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from sale of Common Shares

Common Shares repurchased

Proceeds from sale of Preferred Shares

Proceeds from exercise of options

Proceeds from sale of 2026 Notes

Proceeds from sale of 2001 Notes, net of discount

Proceeds from sale of 2003 Notes, net of discount

Proceeds from sale of 2017 Notes, net of discount

Proceeds from sale of 2015 Notes, net of discount

Proceeds from sale of August 2003 Notes, net of discount

Proceeds from sale of 2000 Notes, net of discount

Proceeds from option to remarket the 2015 Notes

Net proceeds from mortgage note issuance

Payoff MRY unsecured notes

Principal repayment on the Floating Rate Notes

Redemption of Preference Units

Payment of offering costs

Distributions to Common Share and Preferred Share owners

Distributions to Minority Interests

Principal receipts on employee notes

Proceeds from res~ucturing of tax-exempt bond investments

Repayments on line of credit

Proceeds from line of credit

Principal payments on mortgage notes payable

Loan and bond acquisition costs

Increase in secuti~ deposits

Other financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

426,058

(94,705)

—

14,482

—

—
—
—

298,125

99,650

144,452

8,130

223,491

(120,800)

—
—

(12370)

(373,767)

(30,752)

272
—

(881,008)

859,000

(76,489)

(7372)

7,598

540,010
—

491,250

4,999

14g,684

49,916

148,703

—

—
—

—

(100,000)
—

(22,470)

(267,253)

(24,829)

269

9,350

(207,500)

442,5oo

(120,S46)

(10,799)

7,819

489,139

—

11s,000
4,028

150,000

—

—

(1,083)

(10,415)

(121,860)

(20,444)

76

112,209

(342,000)

250,000

(60,706)

(9,1 11)

3,735
— 7,110 —

484,883 1,098,213 558,568

(29~30) (113,976) 133,843

33,295 147,271 13,428

$ 3,965 $ 33,295 $ 147,271

Supplemental Information

Cash paid during the year for interest

Interest capitalized to real estate developments

Mortgage loans assumed and/or entered into through acquisitions of real estate

Net real estate contributed in exchange for Common Shares

Net real estate contributed in exchange for OP Units or Preference Units

Real estate assumed through foreclosure

Transfers to real estate held for disposition

Investment in mortgage notes converted to investment in real estate

Refinancing of mortgage notes payable in favor of notes, net

Liabilities assumed net of assets acquired through Mergers

Mortgage loans assumed through Mergers

Unsecured notes assumed tiough Mergers

Line of credit assumed through Mergers

Market value of Common Shares issued through Mergers

Market value of OP Units issued tiough Mergers

Liquidation value of Preferred Shares redesignated through Mergers

$ 234,318 $_lo9,100 ~_ 76,968

$ 1,620 $ — $ —

$ 459820~ %2 7_

$ – ~185,994 4 —

$ 169,834 $ 4405,335.. L —

$ –__$__– $ 10,854

$ 29,886 — $ —

$ 88,184 $ — $ —

$ 35,600 $ — $ —

42955~
—

$ 184,587 ~ 333%6 $ —

$ 461,956 ~ 383=4 $ —

$ 77,000 $ — $ —

$1,010,723 $ 9&,312 $ —

$ 40,155 $ 107,270 $ —

$ 369,109 $ 15~95 _ $ _ —

(Contin.edfmmpmtiouspag~

See acconpa~ing notes.



Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
@moz.ts intbozsaflh)

YearErs&dDecember 31,

1998 1997 1996
Preferred Shares . I

Balance, beginning of year $1,041,713 $ 393,000 $ 278,000

Issuance of 9KYoSeries C Cumulative Redeemable — — 11s,000

Issuance of 8.600/0Series D Cumdative Redeemable — 17s,000 —

Issuance of Series E Cumtiative Convertible — 99,995 —

Issuance of 9.65% Series F Cumulative Redeemable — 57,500 —

Issuance of 7~~o Series G Convertible Cumdative — 316,2S0 —

Issuance of 7 .OOO/oSeries H Cumulative Convertible 4,124 — —

Issuance of 8.82% Series I Cumulative Convertible 100,000 — —

Issuance of 8.60% Series J Cumulative Convertible 114,985 — —

Issuance of 8.29% Series 1{ Cumulative Redeemable 50,000 —

Issuance of 7.6250/oSeries L Cumulative Redeemable

—

100,000 —

Conversion of Series E Cumulative Convertible

—

(38) (32)
Conversion of 7.000/0Series H Cumulative Convertible

—

(210) — —

Balance, end of year $1,410,574 $1,041,713 $ 393,000

Common Share s, $.01 Par Val~e
.- ,

Balance, beginning of year $ 891 $ 512 $ 350

Issuance of Common Shares through proceeds from offerings 74 159 144

Issuance of Common Shares in connection with

Mergers and acquisitions 218 211 —

Issuance of Common Shares through conversion of

OP Units into Common Shares 7 6 16

Issuance of Common Shares through exercise of

options and restricted sh~e grants 5 2 2

Issuance of Common Shares through Share Purchase – DMP Plan 10 — —

Issuance of Common Shares through Employee Share Purchase Plan 1 1

Commom Shares repurchased

—

(~) — —

Balance, end of year $ 1,182 $ 891 $ 512

—L ,
Paid in Capital ,

Balance, beginning of year

Issuance of Common Shares bough proceeds from offerings, net

Issuance of Common Shares in connection with Mergers and acquisitions

Issuance of Common Shares through conversion of OP Units into Common Shares

Issuance of Common Shares through exercise of options and restricted share grants

Issuance of Common Shares through Share Purchase – DRIP Plan

Issuance of Common Shares through Employee Share Purchase Plan

Issuance of Common Shares through Dividend Reinvestment – DRIP Plan

Issuance of Common Shares through 401(k) Plan

Issuance of Common Shares through conversion of Preferred Shares into Common Shares

Common Shares repurchased

Offering costs associated with Preferred Shares

Adjustment for Mority Interests ownership in Operating Partnership

$2,785,661 $1,147,214 $ 652,829

358,016 533,111 481,390

1,010,505 1,131,095 —

19,799 11,267 27,651

14,477 6,739 4,026

50,674 — —

3,691 3,245 1,201

419 — —

803 583 327

248 32 —

(94,681) — —

— (18,976) (4,011)

19,490. (28,649) (16,199)

Balance, end of year $4,169,102 $2,785,661 $1,147,214

(Conhnuedon netipag~

See ucco~anying notes.



Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(Anloftnts intbot{sands)

Year Ended Decetnber 31,

i 1998 1997 199.6
Employee Notes

Balance, beginning of year $ (5,145) $ (S,255) $ (5,331)

Principal receipts 272 110 76

Balance, end of year $ (4,873) $ (5,145) $ (5,255)

.-_—.._._____
Distributions in Excess of Accumulated Earnings

Balance, beginning of year $ (133,129) $ (76,~41) $ (41,331)

Net income 258,206 176,592 101,624

Preferred distributions (92,917) (59,012) (29,015)

Distributions on Common Shares

Balance, end of year

(277,698) (174>06s) (107,919)
$ (245,538) $ (133,129) _$ ~6:641)

(Coniinuedfmnzpreuiouspage)

See accompanyingnotes.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1 ● Organization and Formation of the Company —

Equity Residential Properties Trusg formed in March 1993, (“EQR”), is a
self-atistered and self-managed equity real estate investment trust
(“REIT”). As used herein, the term “Company” means EQ~ and its
subsidiaries, as the survivor of the mergers between EQR and each of

Wellsford Residential Property Trust (“Wellsford’~ (the ‘Wellsford
Merger”), Evans Withycombe Residential, Inc. (“EWR”) (the “EWR
Merger”) and Merry Land & Investment Company, Inc. (“MRY”) (the
“MRY Merger”) (see Note 3). The Company has elected to be taxed as a
REIT under Section 856(c) of the Internal Revenue Code 1986, as
amended (the “Code”). As a result, the Company generally will not be
subject to Federal income tax to the extent it distributes 950/oof its taxable
income to its shareholders. REIT’s are subject to a number of
orgtiational and operational requirements. If the Company fails to
qualify as a REIT in any year, its taxable income may be subject to income
tax at re@ar corporate rates (including any applicable alternative minimum
tax). Even if the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, the Company
may be subject to certain state and local mes on its income and excise
taxes on its undistributed income.

The Company is engaged in the acquisition, disposition, ownership,
management and operation of mtitifarnily properties. As of December 31,
1998, the Company controlled a portfolio of 654 multifamily properties
(iidividuaUy a “Property” and collectively the “Properties”) containing
187,002 apartment units. The Company’s interest in six of these Properties
at fie time of acquisition thereof consisted solely of ownership of debt
collateralized by such Properties. The Company also has an investment in
partnership interests and subordinated mortgages coLlatertized by 21
properties and an investment in six joint ventures consisting of six
properties (collectively, tbe “Additional Properties”). The Properties and
Additional Properties are located throughout the United States in the
following 35 states: Alabama, Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado,
Connecticut, Florida, Georgia, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas,

Kentucky Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, wssouri,
Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, North Caroka, Ohio, -

Oklahoma, Oregon, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Virginia,
Washington and Wisconsin.

The Company has formed a series of partnerships (the “Financing
Partnerships’~ which beneficially own certain Properties encumbered by
mortgage indebtedness. In general, these are structured so that ERP
Operating Limited Partnership (the “Operadng Partnership”), a subsidiary
of EQ~ owns a 10/olimited partner interest and a 980/ogeneral partner
interest in each with the remaining 10/ogeneral partner interest in each
Financing Partnership owned by various qualified REIT subsidiaries wholly
owned by the Company (each a “QRS Corporation”). Rental income from
the Properties that are beneficially owned by a Financing Partnership is
used first to service the applicable mortgage debt and pay other operating
expenses and any excess is then distributed 10/. to the applicable QRS
Corporation, as the general partner of su& Financing Partnership, and
99°A to the Operating Partnership, as the sole 1°Alimited partner and as
the 98% general partner. The Company has also formed a series of limited
liabili~ companies that own certain Properties and one that has an
investment in partnership interests and subordinated mortgages
collateralized by 21 of the Additional Properties (collectively the “LLCS”).
The operating Partnership is a 99V0 managing member of each LLC and a
QRS Corporation is a l% member of each LLC.

As of December 31, 1998,700 Properties were managed by either
Equity Residential Properties Management Limited Par~ers~p, the
successor to the mukifarnily residential management services (the
“Management Business’? contributed by Equity Properties Management
Corp. (’%PMC”) contemporaneously with the Company’s initial public
offering (the “EQR IPO’~, or Equity Residential Properties Management
Limited Partnership II (collectively, the “Management Partnerships”). The
Management Partnerships collect a property management fee consistent

with a reasonable arms-length charge for the performance of such services.
The sole general partner of the Management Partnerships withal%
interest is the Operating Partnership. The sole limited partners of the
Management Partnerships are Equity Residential Properties Management
Corp. (“Management Corp.”) and Equity Residential Properties
Management Corp. 11 (“Management Corp. II”), respectively and each has

a 990/0interest in the respective partnership.

2 ● Basis of presentation

The Wellsford Merger, the EWR Merger and the ~Y Merger (collectively
the “Mergers’~ were treated as purchases in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 16. The fair value of the consideration given
by the Company in the Mergers was used as the valuation basis for each of
the combinations. The assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of
Wellsford were recorded at their relative fair values as of May 30,1997 (the
‘Wellsford Closing Date”). The assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
of EWR were recorded at their relative fair values as of December 23, 1997
(the “EWR Closing Date”). The assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
of MRY were recorded at their relative fti values as of October 19, 1998
(the “MRY Closing Date”). The accompanying consolidated statements of
operations and cash flows include the results of the Properties purchased
through the Mergers from their respective closing dates.

Due to the Company’s ability as general partner to control eifier through
ownership or by contract the Operating Partnership, the Management
Partnerships, the Fmantig Partnerships, the LLCS and Merry Land
DownREIT I L? each such entity has been consolidated with the Company
for fiancial reporting purposes. b regard to Management Corp.,

Management Corp. II, Evans Withycombe Management Inc. and ML
Services, kc., the Company does not have legal contro~ however, these
entities are consolidated for financial reporting purposes, the effects of which
are immaterial. Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s
tianciai statements in order to conform to the current year presentation.

3 ● Business Combinations

In connection with the We~sford Merger, each outstanding common share
of beneficial interest of Wellsford was converted into .625 of a Common
Share of the Company. In addition, Wellsford’s Series A Cumdative
Convertible Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest were redesignated as
the Company’s 3,999,800 Series E Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares
of Beneficial Interest, $0.01 par value per share (the “Series E Preferred
Shares”) and Wellsforcl’s Series B Curmdative Redeemable Preferred Shares
of Beneficial Interest were redesignated as the Company’s 2,300,000 9.650/0
Series F Cunudative Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest,
$0.01 par value per share (the “Series F Preferred Shares”).

On the Wellsford Closing Date, 72 Properties containing 19,004 units

and other related assets were acquired for a total purchase price of

approximately $1 billion. The purchase price consisted of 10.8 million
common shares of beneficial interest, $.01 par value per share (“Common
Shares”) issued by the Company with a market value of $443.7 million, the
liquidation value of $157.5 million for the Series E Preferred Shares and
the Series F Preferred Shares, the assumption of mortgage indebtedness
and unsecured notes in the amount of $345 million, the assumption of
other liabilities of approximately $33.5 million and other merger related
costs of approximately $23.4 million.

On the EWR Closing Date, 53 Properties containing 15,331 units and

three Properties under construction or expansion containing 953 units and
other refated assets were acquired for a total purchase ptice of approximately
$1.2 billion. In connection with the EWR Merger, as of the EWR Closing
Date, each outstanding common share of beneficial interest of EWR was
converted into .50 of a Common Share of the Company. The purchase price
consisted of 10.3 million Common Shares issued by the Company with a
total market value of approxirnatdy $501.6 million, the assumption of



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

EWR’S minority interest witi a market value of approximately $107.3
million, tie assumption of mortgage indebtedness and unsecured notes in
the amount of $498 million, the assumption of orher liabilities of

approximately $28.2 million and other EWR Merger related costs of
approximately $16.7 tnillion.

In connection with the MRY Merger, each outstanding common share
of beneficial interest of MRY was converted into 0.53 of a Common
Share of the Company. In addition, MRY spun-off certain assets and
I.iabfities to Merry Land Properties, Inc. (“MRYP Spinco”). As partial
consideration for the tiansfer, the Company extended a $25 million, one
year, non-revolving Senior Debt Agreement to MRYP Spinco. At
December 31, 1998, approximately $18.3 million was outstanding, bearing
interest at LIBOR plus 250 basis points.

In addition, MRY Series A Cumtiative Convertible Preferred Shates of
Beneficial Interest were redesignated as the Company’s 164,951 Series H
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest, $0.01 par
value per share (the “Series H Preferred Shares”), the MRY Series B
Cumdative Convertible Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest were
redesignated as the Company’s 4,000,000 Series I Curm.dative Convertible
Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest, $0.01 par value per share (the
“Series I Preferred Shares”), the MRY Series C Curmdative Convertible
Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest were redesignated as the Company’s
4,599,400 Series J Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares of Beneficial
Interest, $0.01 par value per share (the “Series J Preferred Shares”), the
MRY Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial
Interest were redesignated as the Company’s 1,000,000 Series K
Cumtiative Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest, $0.01 par
value per share (fie “Series K Preferred Shares”) and the MRY Series E
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest were
redesignated as the Company’s 4,000,000 Series L Cumdative Redeemable
Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest, $0.01 par value per share (the
“Series L Preferred Shares”).

On the ~Y Closing Date, 108 Properties containing 32,315 units, four
Properties under construction or expansion expected to contain 1,378
units, six Additional Properties that represent an investment in six joint
venmres containing 1,297 units and other related assets were acquired for a
total purchase price of approximately $2.2 billion. The purchase price
consisted of 21.8 million Common Shares issued by the Company witi a
market value of $1 billion, the assumption of MRY’s minority interest with
a market value of approximately $40.2 million, the liquidation value of
$369.1 million for the Series H Preferred Shares, the Series I Preferred
Shares, the Series J Preferred Shares, the Series K Preferred Shares and the
Series L Preferred Shares, the assumption of mortgage indebtedness,
unsecured notes and a line of credit in the amount of $723.5 million, the
assumption of other liabilities of approximately $46.5 million and other
merger related costs of approximately $52 million.

All of the amounts stated in the previous paragraphs are based on

On May 21,1996, the Company completed an offering of 2,300,000
publicly registered Common Shares, which were sold at a net price of
$30.50 per share. On May 28,1996, the Company completed the sale of
73,287 publicly registered Common Shares to employees of the Company
and to employees of Equity Group Investments, Inc. and certain of its
subsidiaries ~EGI”) and certain of their respective affiliates and
constants at a net price equal to $30.50 per share. On May 30, 1996, the
Company completed an offering of 1,264,400 pubficly registered Common
Shares, which were sold at a net price of $30.75 per share. The Company
received net proceeds of approximately $111.3 million in connection with
the sale of the 3,637,687 Common Shares mentioned above (collectively
the “May 1996 Common Share Offerings”).

On June 26, 1996, the Company tied with the SEC a Form S-3
Registration Statement to register 608,665 Common Shares which maybe
issued by the Company to holders of 608,665 OP Units. The SEC declared
this Registration effective on September 6,1996.

On September 18, 1996, the Company filed with the SEC a Form S-3
Registration Statement to register $500 million of equity securities (the
“1996 Equity Shelf Registration”). The SEC declared this Registration
effective on September 23, 1996.

In September 1996, the Company completed the sale of 2,272,728
publicly registered Common Shares, which were sold at a net price of
$33 per share. The Company received net proceeds of appro~ately
$75 million in connection with this offering (the “September 1996

Common Share Offering”).
On September 27,1996, the Compmy filed with the SEC a Form S-3

Registration Statement to register 1,182,835 Common Shares which may
be issued by the Company to holders of 1,182,835 OP Units. The SEC
declared this Registration effective on October 3,1996.

In December 1996, the Company completed offerings of 4,440,000
publicly registered Common Shares, which were sold to the public at a
price of $41.25 per share (the “December 1996 Common Share
Offerings”). The Company received net proceeds of approximately
$177.4 million in connection therewith.

In March 1997, the Company completed three separate public offerings
relating to an aggregate of 1,921,000 publicly registered Common Shares,
which were sold to the public at a price of $46 per share (the “March 1997
Common Share Offerings”). The Company received net proceeds of

approximately $88.3 million therefrom.
On May 14, 1997, the Company fded with the SEC a Form S-3

Regis&ation Statement to register ~500 Won of equity securities (the
“June 1997 Equity Shelf Registration”). The SEC declared this registration
statement effective on June 5, 1997.

InJune 1997, the Company completed five separate public offerings
comprising an aggregate of 8,992,023 publicly registered Common Shares,
which were sold to the public at prices ranging from $44.06 to $45.88 per
share (the “June 1997 Common Share Offerings”). The Company received

management’s current best estimates, which are subject to adjustment net proceeds of approximately $398.9 million therefrom.
within one year of the respective closing dates. On Jdy 28, 1997, the Company fded with the SEC a Form S-3

4 ● Shareholders’ Equity and Minority Interests

In January 1996, the Company completed an offering of 1,725,000
registered Common Shares, which were sold at a net price of $29.375 per
share (the “January 1996 Common Share Offering”) and received net
proceeds of approximately $50.7 million in connection therewith.

Also in January 1996, the Company filed with the SEC a Form S-3
Registration Statement to register 1,676,423 Common Shares whid may be
sold by the holders thereof or by holders of partnership interests (“OP
Units’? upon the issuance of Common Shares in exchange for such OP Units.

In February 1996, the Company completed an offering of 2,300,000
registered Common Shares, which were sold at a net price of $29.50 per
share (the “February 1996 Common Share Offering”) and received net
proceeds of approximately $67.8 million in connection therewith.

Registration Statement to register $750 million of equity securities (the
“August 1997 Equity Shelf Registration”). The SEC declared this
registration statement effective on August 4, 1997.

In September 1997, the Company completed the sale of 498,000
publicly registered Common Shares, which were sold to the public at a
price of $51.125 per share. The Company received net proceeds of

approximately $24.2 million in connection with this offering (tie
“September 1997 Common Share Offering”).

In October 1997, in comection with the acquisition of a portfolio of ;
Properties, the Company issued 3,315,500 publicly registered Common =

Shares, which were issued at a price of $45.25 per share with a value of
.
:

approximately $150 million (the “October 1997 Common Share Offering”). “~
On November 3,1997, the Company filed with the SEC a Form S-3 E

Registration Statement to register 7,000,000 Common Shares pursuant to a .;
Distribution Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan. This registration .

U
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statement was declared effective on November 25, 1997. The Distribution
Reinvestment and Share Purchase PJan (the “DRIP Plan”) of the Company
provides holders of record and benefid owners of Common Shares,
Preferred Shares, and Iknited partnership interests in the Operadng
Partnership with a simple and convenient method of investing cash
distributions in additional Common Shares (which is referred to herein as the
“Dividend Reinvestment – D~ PJan”). Common Shares may also be
purchased on a monthly basis with optional cash payments made by
patdcipants in the DRIP Plan and interested new investors, not currently
shweholders of the Company, at the market price of the Common Shares less
a discount ranging between 0°/0and 5°/0(as determined in accordance with the
D~ Plan) (which is referred to herein as the “Share Purchase – D~ Plan”).

On December 11, 1997, in connection with the acquisition of one
Property, tie Company issued 736,296 publicly registered Common Shares,
which were issued at a price of $48.85 per share with a value of

approximately Y36 mil!.ion. On December 23, 1997, tie Company
completed an offering of 467,722 publicly registered Common Shares,
which were sold to the public at a price of $51.3125 per share and received
net proceeds of approximately $22.8 million in comection therewith. The
sale of the 1,204,018 Common Shares mentioned above is collectively the
“December 1997 Common Share Offerings”.

Dtig 1998, the Company issued 93,521 Common Shares pursuant to
the Employee Share Purchase Plan and received net proceeds of

approximatdy $3.7 InjJlion.
During 1998, the Company issued 1,023,184 Common Shares pursuant

to the Share Purchase – DRIP Plan and received net proceeds of

approximately $50.7 milJ.ion.
On January 27,1998, the Company completed an offering of 4,000,000

publicly registered Common Shares, which were sold to the public at a
price of $50.4375 per share (the “January 1998 Common Share Offering’?.
The Company received net proceeds of approximately $195.3 miJJion in
comection therewith.

On February 3,1998, the Company filed with the SEC a Form S-3
Re#stration Statement to register $1 billion of equity securities. The SEC
declared this registration statement effective on February 27,1998.,

On February 18, 1998, the Company completed offerings of
988,340 publicly registered Common Shares, which were sold to the
public at a price of $50.625 per share. On February 23, 1998, the
Company completed an offering of 1,000,000 publicly registered
Common Shares, which were sold to the public at a price of $48 per
share. The Company received net proceeds from these offerings
(collectively, the “February 1998 Common Share Offerings”) of

approximately $9.5 million.
On March 30,1998, the Company completed an offering of 495,663

publicly registered Common Shares, which were sold at a price of $47.9156
per share (the “March 1998 Common Share Offering’?. The Company
received net proceeds of approximately $23.7 tniJlion in connection therewith.

On ApriJ 29,1998, the Company completed an offetig of 946,565 publicly
registered Common Shares, which were sold at a price of $46.5459 per share

(the ‘ApriJ 1998 Common Share Offering’?. The Company received net
proceeds of approximately $44.1 million in connection therewith.

On September 20, 1998, the Company completed its repurchase of
2,367,400 of its Common Shares of beneficial interest, on the open
market, for an average price of $40 per share. The purchases were made
between August 5 and September 17, 1998. The Company paid

approximately $94.7 million in connection therewith. These shares were
subsequendy redred.

The folJowing table presents the changes in he Company’s issued and
outstanding Common Shares for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997
and 1996 (excluding OP Units and Junior Convertible Preference Units of
13,286,555,9,592,590 and 7,858,228 outstanding at December 31, 1998,
1997 and 1996, respectively):

1998 1997 1996
89,085,265 51,154,836 35,011,715Common Shares outstandingatJmuary 1,

Common Shares Issued:
January 1998 Common Shae Offetig
Pebruw 1998 Common Share Offerings
March 1998 Common Share Offering
April 1998 Common Share Offering
Conversion of MRY conunon shares
March 1997 Common Shsre Offerings
June 1997 Comon Share Offerin~
September 1997 Common She Offering
October 1997 Common Share Offering
December 1997 Common Share Offerings
Conversion of Wellsfordcommon shares
Conversion of EWR common shares
Conversion of Series E Preferred Shares
Conversion of Series H Preferred Shares
January 1996 Common Share Offering
February 1996 Common Share Offering
May 1996 Common Share Offerings
September 1996 Common Share Offering
December 1996 Common Share Offerings
Employee Share Purchase Plan
Dividend Rehvestment – DRIP Plan
Share Pmchase – DRIP Plm
Exercise of options
Restricted share grants
Conversion of OP Units
Profit-sharing contribution/401(k) Plan

Common Shares Other:
Common Shares repurchased

4,000,000
1,988,340

495,663
946,565

21,801,612

—
—

—
834

6,078
—
—

—
—

93,521
10,230

1,023,184
431,174

59,060
640,337

15,980

—
—
—
—
—

1,921,000

8,992,023

498,000

3,315,500

1,204,018

10,823,016

10,288,583

723
—

—

—

—

—
—

84,183
—
—

180,138

28,246

582,185

13,140

(2,367,400) —

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

1,725,000

2,300,000

3,637,687

2>272,728
4,440,000

39,458
—

—

150,840

21,879
1,545>866

10,001

—
Common Shares o&er (434) (326) (338)

Common Shares outstandingat December 31, 118,230,009 89,085,265 51,154,836

Assuming conversion of all OP Units and Junior Convertible Preference
Units, total Common Shares outstanding at December 31, 1998 would
have been 131,516,564. As of December 31, 1998, the Minority
Interests held 13,286,555 OP Units, which includes units held by
minority interest owners in Merry Land DownREIT I LP, which were
converted to 180,585 OP Units subsequent to December 31, 1998. This
amount represented a 10.10°/0interest in the Operating Partnership. As
of December 31, 1997, the Minority Interests held 9,592,590 OP Units,
which represented a 9.72°/0 interest in the Operating Partnership.

The Company paid a $0.67, $0.67, $0.67 and $0.71 per Common Share
distribution on Aprii 10, Jdy 10, October 9 and December 31, 1998,
respectively, for the quarters ended March 31, June 30, September 30 and
December 31, 1998, to Common Share holders of record on March 27,
June 26, September 16 and December 20,1998, respectively.

The declaration of trust of the Company provides that the Company may
issue up to 100,000,000 Preferred Shares with specific rights, preferences md
other attributes as the Board of Trustees may determine, which may include
preferences, powers and rights that are senior to the rights of holders of the
Company’s Common Shares. Under certain circumstances, the issuance of
Preferred Shares may require shareholder approval pursuant to the rules and
the regulations of the New York Stock Exchange.

In June 1995, the Company sold 6,120,000 of its 9~8% Series A
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficisf Interest, $0.01 par
value per share (liquidation preference $25 per share) (the “Series A
Preferred Shares”). The net proceeds of approximately $148.2 rnifiion
from tie Series A Preferred Share Offering were contributed by the
Company to the Operating Partnership in exchange for 6,120,000 of the
C)peratig Partnership’s 978~0 Series A cumdative redeemable preference
units. The Series A Preferred Shares are cumulative from the date of
original issue and distributions are payable quarterly on or about the
fifteenth day of January April, July and October of each year, at the annual
rate of 9780/0 of the liquidation preference of $25 per share. The Series A
Preferred Shares are not redeemable prior to June 1,2000. On or after
June 1,2000, the Preferred Shares maybe redeemed for cash at the option
of the Company in whole or in part, at a redemption price of $25 per
share, plus accrued and unpaid distributions, if any, thereon.

In November 1995, the Company sold 5,000,000 depositary shares (the
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“Series B Depositary Shares”). Each Series B Depositary Share represents a
7,0fractional interest in a 9fiY, Series B Cumdative Redeemable Preferred
Share of Beneficial Interest, $0.01 par value per share (the “Series B
Preferred Shares”). The liquidation preference of each of the Series B
Preferred Shares is $250.00 (equivalent to $25 per Series B Depositary
Share). The net proceeds of approximately $121 million from the Series B
Preferred Share Offering were contributed by the Company to the
Operating Partnership in exchange for 500,000 of the Operating
Partnership’s 9%% Series B cumtdative redeemable preference units. The
Series B Preferred Shares are cumulative from the date of original issue and
distributions are payable quartedy on or about the fifteenth day of January,
April, July and October of each year, commencing on Jan.ary 15, 1996, at
the annual rate of 978% of the liquidation preference of fi25 per Series B
Depositary Share. The Series B Preferred Shares ~e not redeemable prior to
October 15,2005. On and after October 15,2005, the Series B Preferred
Shares may be redeemed for cash at the option of the Company in whole or
in part, at a redemption price of $250 per share (equivalent to $25 per Series
B Depositary Share), plus accrued and unpaid distributions, if any ‘thereon.

In September 1996 the Company sold 4,600,000 depositary shares (the
“Series C Depositary Shares”). Each Series C Depositary Share represents
a ~lufractional interest in a 9780/0Series C Cumdarive Redeemable
Preferred Share of Beneficial Interest, $0.01 par value per share (the
“Series C Preferred Shares”). The liquidation preference of each of the
Series C Preferred Shares is $250.00 (equivalent to $25 per Series C
Depositary Share). The Company raised gross proceed; of$115 million
from this offering (the “Series C Preferred Share Offering”). The
Company contributed the net proceeds of approximately-$l 11.4 million
from the Series C Preferred Share Offering to tie Operating Partnership in
exchange for 460,000 of the Operating Partnership’s 97a0/0Series C
cumulative redeemable preference units. The Series C Preferred Shares are
cumulative from the date of original issue and distributions are payable
quarterly on or about the fifteenth day of January, April, Jdy and October
of each year, commencing on October 15, 1996, at the amual rate of
9 780/0 of the liquidation preference of $25 per Series C Depositary Share.
The Series C Preferred Shares tie not redeemable prior to September 9,
2006. On and after September 9,2006, the Series C Preferred Shares may
be redeemed for cash at the option of the Company, in whole or in part, at
a redemption price of $250 per share (equivalent to $25 per Series C
Depositary Share), plus accrued and unpaid distributions, if any, thereon.

In May 1997, the Company sold 7,000,000 depositary shares (the “Series
D Depositary Shares”). Each Series D Depositary Share represents a Y,,
fractional interest its a 8.60% Series D Cumdative Redeemable Preferred

Share of Beneficial Interest, $0.01 par value per share (the “Series D
Preferred Shares”). The liquidation preference of each of the Series D
Preferred shares is $250.00 (equivalent to $25 per Series D Depositary
Share). The Company received net proceeds of approximately $169.5
million from this offering (the “Series D Preferred Share Offering”). The
Company contributed h; net proceeds of approximately $169.5 ‘~on
from the Series D Preferred Share Offering to the Operating Partnership
in exchange for 700,000 of the Operating Partnership’s 8.60°/0 Series D
cumulative redeemable preference units. The Series D Preferred Shares are
cumulative from the date of ori~al issue and distributions are payable
quarterly on or about the fifteenth day of January, April, July and October
of each year, commencing on July 15, 1997, at the annual rate of 8.600/0of
the liquidation preference of $25 per Series D Depositary Share.

The SeLiesE Preferred Shares ate cumulative and distributions are
payable quarterly on January 1, April 1, Jtiy 1 and October 1 in an amount
equal to $1.75 per share per annum. Each Series E Preferred Share is
convertible at the option of the holder ~ereof at any time into Common
Shares at a conversion price of $44.93 per Common Share (equivalent to a
conversion rate of approximately .5564 Common Share for e~ch Series E
Preferred Share). The Series E Preferred Shares are not redeemable prior
to November 1, 1998. On and after November 1, 1998, the Series E
Preferred Shares may be redeemed at the option of the Company in whole

or in part, initially at $25.875 per share and thereafter at prices declining to
$25.00 per share on and after November 1,2003, plus accrued and unpaid
distributions, if any, thereon. During 1997, 1,300 of the Series E Preferred
Shares were converted into 723 Common Shares of the Company. During
1998, 1,500 of the Series E Preferred Shares were converted into 834
Common Shares of the Company,

The Series F Preferred Shares are cumulative and distributions are
payable quarterly on or about the fifteenth day of January April, Jtdy and
October of each year at the rate of 9.65V0of the liquidation preference of
$25 per share. The Series F Preferred Shares are not redeemable prior to
August 24,2000. On or after August 24,2000, the Series F Preferred
Shares may be redeemed for cash at the option of the Company in whole
or in part, at a redemption price of $25.00 per share, plus accrued and

~p~d distributions, if any, thereon.
In September 1997, the Company sold 11,000,000 depositary shares (the

“Series G Depositary Shares”). Each Series G Depositary Share represents
a Yiofractional interest in a 7740/0Series G Convertible Cumulative

Preferred Share of Beneficial Interest, $0.01 par value per share. (the
“Series G Preferred Shares”). Series G Depositary Shares representing
Series G Preferred Shares are convertible at the option of the holder
thereof at any dme into Common Shares at a conversion price of $58.58
per Common Share (equivalent to a conversion rate of approximately
.4268 Common Shares for each Series G Deposi~ary Share). The
liquidation preference of each of the Series G Preferred Shares is $250.00
per share (equivalent to $25 per Series G Depositary Share). The Company
received net proceeds of approximately $264 million from this offering
(the “Series G Preferred Share Offering”). In addition, in October 1997,
the Company sold 1,650,000 additiond Series G Depositary Shares
pursuant to an over-allotment option granted to tbe-unde~riters and
received net proceeds of approximately $39.6 million therefrom. The
Company contributed the net proceeds of approximately $303.6 million
from the Series G Preferred Share Offering to the Operating Partnership
in exchange for 1,265,000 of the Operating Partnership’s 7 7~0/0Series G
convertible cumulative preference units. The Series G Preferred Shares are
cumrdative from the date of original issue and distributions are payable
quarterly on or about the fiftee~ti day of January, April, Jdy an~ October
of each year, commencing on October 15, 1997, at the annual rate of 7
1/4 Yoof the liquidation preference of $25 per Series G Depositary Share.
The Series G Preferred Shares are not redeemable prior to September 15,
2002. On and after September 15,2002, the Series G Preferred Share may
be redeemed at the option of the Company in whole or in part, initially at
$25.90625 per Depositary Share and thereafter at prices declining to $25
per Depositary Share on and after September 15,2007, plus in each case
accrued and unpaid distributions, if any, to the redemption date.

The Series H Preferred Shares are cumulative and distributions are
payable quarterly in arrears on the last day of March, June, September and
December of each yea in an amount equivalent to $1.75 per amum per
share. Each Series H Preferred Share is convertible at the o~tion of the
holder thereof at any time into Common Shares at a conve~sion price of
$34.53 per Common Share (equivalent to a conversion rate of

approfiately .7240 Common Share for each Series H Preferred Share).
The Series H Preferred Shares maybe redeemed, in whole or in part, at the
option of the Company for Common Shares only, provided the Common
Shares are trading above $34.53 (subject to adjustrrent in certain
circumstances). During 1998, 8,400 of the Series H Preferred Shares were
converted into 6,078 Common Shares of t!neCompany.

The Series I Preferred Shares are curmdative and distributions ate payable

quarterly in arrears on the last day of March, June, September and ;
December of each yeat in an amount equivalent to $2.205 per annum per ~
share. Each Series I Preferred Share is convertible at the option of the $
holder thereof at any tie into Common Shares at a conversion price of ‘~
$38.96 per Common Share (equivalent to a conversion rate of

E

approximately .6417 Common Sh=e for each Sedes I Preferred Shue). The S
Series I Preferred Shares are not redeemable prior to October 31,1999. On R
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orafter October 31, 1999, the Series IPreferred Shares may beredeemed, ti
whole or in parq at the option of the Company for Common Shares only,
provided the Common Shares are trading above $38.96 (subject to
adjustment in certain circumstances).

The Series J Preferred Shares are curmdative and distributions are
payable quarterly in arrears on the last day of March, June, September and
December of each year in an amount equivalent to $2.15 per annum per
share. Each Series J Preferred Share is convernble at the option of the
holder thereof at any time into Common Shares at a conversion price of
$40.74 per Common Share (equivalent to a conversion rate of

approfiately .6136 Common Share for each Series J Preferred Shine).
The Series J Preferred Shares are not redeemable prior to Mtich 31,2000.
On or after March 31,2000, the Series J Preferred Shares maybe redeemed,
in whole or in part, at the option of the Company for Common Shares only
provided the Common Shares are trading above $40.74 (subject to
adjustment in certain circumstances).

The Series K Preferred Shares are cumulative and distributions are
payable quarterly on the last day of March, June, September and
December of each year at the rate of 8.29% of the liquidation preference
per annum (equivalent to $4.145 per annum per share). The Series I<
Preferred Shares are not redeemable prior to December 10,2026. On or
after December 10, 2026, the Series 1<Preferred Shares may be redeemed
for cash at the option of the Company in whole or in part, at a
redemption price of $50.00 per share, plus accrued and unpaid
distributions, if any thereon.

The Series L Preferred Shares are cumulative and distributions are
payable quarterly on the last day of March, June, September and
December of each year at the rate of 7.625V0of the liquidation preference
per annum (equivalent to $1.906 per annum per share). The Series L
Preferred Shares are not redeemable prior to February 13,2003. On or
after February 13, 2003, the Series L Preferred Shares may be redeemed
for cash at the option of the Company in whole or in part, at a
redemption price of $25.00 per shine, plus accrued and unpaid
distributions, if any thereon.

The following table presents the Company’s issued and outstanding
Preferred Shares as of December 31, 1998 and 1997:

1998 1997
Preferred Shares of beneficial iriterest, $.01 par value:
100,000,000 shares authotied:

97s76 Series A Cumtiative Redeemable Preferred
$25 per shsre, 6,120,~ shines issued and outstanding
at December 31, 1998 and 1997 $153,000 $153,000

9 Y,%,Series B CmnuiativeRedeemable Preferred
$250 per share, 500,000 shares issuedand outstanding
at December 31, 1998 and 1997 125,000 125,000

9 %VaSeries C Cumdative Redeemable Preferred
$250 per share, 460,000 shates issued and outstanding
at Decembm 31, 1998 and 1997 115,000 l15,0ilo

8.60% Series D Cumdative Redeemable Preferred
$250 per shae, 700,000 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 1998 and 1997 175,000 175,000

Series E Cumdarive Convertible Preferred
S25 pcr share, 3,997,000 and 3,998,500 shares issued and
outstandingat December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively 99,925 99>963

9.65% Series F Cumtiative Redeemable Preferred
$25 per share, 2,300,0M shares issuedand outstanding
at December 31, 1998 and 1997 , 57,500 .57,500

1998 1997
Preferred Shares of beneficial interest, $.01 par value;
100,000,000 shares authorized

7 Y.”/aSeries G Convertible Cmdarive Preferred
$250 per share, 1,265,W0 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 1998 and 1997 316,250 316,250

7.000/oSeries H Cuindative Convertible Preferred
$25 per share, 156,551 shares issuedand oustsnding
at December 31, 1998 3,914

8.82% Series I CumulativeConvertible pleferrcd
$25 per share, 4,000,000 shares issuedand oumanding
at December 31, 1998 100,000

8.607. Series J Cumdative Convertible Preferred
$25 per share, 4,599,400 ehsres issued and outstanding
at December 31, 1998 114,985

—

—

—

8.29% Series K Cumtiative Redeemable Preferred

$50 pershare,1,000,0011shares issuedand outstanding
at December 31, 1998 50,000 —

7.625% Series L CumubitiveRedeemable Preferred
$25 per share. 4,000,000 shares issued and outstanding
at D~cember 31, 1998 100,000 —

Preferred Shares outstandingat December 31, $1,410,574 $1,041,713

Net proceeds from the Company’s Common Share offerings are
contributed by the Company to the Operating Partnership in return for an
increased ownership percentage and are treated as capitaf transactions in
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. As a restit, the net
offering proceeds are allocated between shareholders’ equity and the equity
position of the limited partners of the Operating Partnership (collectively
the “Minority Interests”) (to the extent represented by OP Units), to
account for the change in their respective percentage ownership of the
underlying equity of tie Operatig Partnership.

The following table summarizes the distributions paid to Preferred
Share and Depositary Shareholders related to the year ended
December 31, 1998:

DividendAmount Date Psid For the Quarter Record Date
ox Period ended

&ries A Preferred

Series B Depositary
Shareholders

Series C Depositmy
Shareholders

Series D Depositary
Sh~eholders

Series E Preferred
Shareholders

Seri- F Preferred
Shareholders

Series G Depositary
Shareholders

$0.585938
0.585937
0.585938
0.585937

$0.570313
0.570312
0.570313
0.570312

$0.570313
0.570312
0.570313
0.570312

$0.537500
0.537500
0.537500
0.537500

$0.437500
0.437500
0.437500
0.437500

$0.603125
0.603125
0.603125
0.603125

$0.453125
0.453125
0.453123
0.453125 01/15/99

04/15/98
07/15/98
10/15/98
01/15/99

04/15/98
07/15/98
10/15/98
01/15/99

04/15/98
07/15/98
10/15/98
01/15/99

04/15/98
07/15/98
10/15/98
01/15/99

04/01/98
07/01/98
10/01/98
01/04/99

04/15/98
07/15/98
10/15/98
01/15/99

04/15/98
07/15/98
10/15/98

03/31/98
06/30/98
09/30/98
12/31/98

03/31/98
06/30/98
09/30/98
12/31/98

03/31/98
06/30/98
09/30/98
12/31/98

03/31/98
06/30/98
09/30/98
12/31/98

03/31/98
06/30/98
09/30/98
12/31/98

03/31/98
06/30/98
09/30/98
12/31/98

03/27/98
06/26/98
09/16/98
12/20/98

03/27/98
06/26/98
09/16/98
12/20/98

03/27/98
06/26/98
09/16/98
12/20/98

03/27/98
06/26/98
09/16/98
12/20/98

03/13/98
06/15/98
09/16/98
12/20/98

03/27/98
06/26/98
09/16/98
12/20/98

03/31/98 03/27/98
06/30/98 06/26/98
09/30/98 09/16/98
12/31/98 12/20/98
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Dividend Amount Date Paid Forthe Quarter
or Period ended Record Date interest rate protection agreements. These costs areamortized over the

Series H Preferred
Shareholders

terms of the related debt. Unamortized financing costs are written-off
$0.437500 12/31/98 12/31/98 12/20/98 when debt is retired before the maturity date. The accumulated

Series I Preferred
amortization of such deferred financing costs was$8.2millionmd

Shareholders $0.551250 12/31/98 12/31/98 12/20/98 $4.2 rniUion at December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively.

Series J Preferred
Shareholder $0.537500 12/31/98 12/31/98 12/20/98

~~ Interest Rate Protection Agreements
The Company from time to time enters into interest rate protection

SefiesK Preferred agreements to effectively convert floating rate debt to afixedratebasis, as
Shareholders $1.036250 12/31/98 12/31/98 12/20/98 well as to hedge anticipated fiancing transactions. Netamomtsptidor

Series L Preferred received under these agreements are recognized as an adjustment to

Shareholders $0.476563 12/31/98 12/31/98 12/20/98 interest expense when such amounts are incutred or earned. Settlement

amounts paid or receivedin connection with terminated interest rate

5 ● Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Real Estate Assets and Deprecsktiovz
Real Estate is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation less an
adjustment, if any, for impairment.

For rental properties to be disposed o~ an impairment loss is recognized
when the ftivalueof therealestate,less theestimated cost toseuislessti
the carrying amount of the red estate measured at the tie the Company has
a commitment to sell tie proper~ and/or is actively markedng the property
for sale. Real estate to be disposed of is reported at the lower of its carrying
amount or its esdmated fair value, less its cost to sell. Depreciation is not
recorded during the period in which assets are held for disposal.

Depreciatio~ is computed on a suaight-line basis over tie estimated
usefd lives of the assets. The Company uses a 30-year estimated life for
buildings, a ten-year estimated life for land improvements and up to a seven-
year estimated life for fwnitute, fixtures and equipment. Expenditures for
ordinary maintenance and repairs are expensed to operations as incurred and
significant renovations and improvements that improve and/or extend the
usefi life of the asset ate capitalized over thek estimated useti life. Initial
direct leasing costs ate expensed as incurred and such expense approximates
the deferral and amortization of initial direct leasing costs over the lease
terms. Proper~ sales or dispositions are recorded when title transfers and
sufficient consideration has been received by the Company. Upon
disposition, the related costs and accumulated deprecation ate removed from
the respective accounts. Any gaio or loss on sale or disposition is recognized
in accordance with generally accepted accoundng principles.

The Company classifies Properties under development and/or
expansion and lease-up properties as construction-in-progress until
construction on the apartment community has been completed and all
certificates of occupancy pertnits have been obtained. The Company also
classifies land relating to construction-in-progress as land on its balance
sheet. Land associated with construction-in-progress was $19.4 don and
$8.3 tniUion as of December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively

protection agreements are deferred and amortized over the remaining
term of the related finantig transaction on the straight-line method.
The Company believes it has limited exposure to the extent of non-

performance by tie countetparties of each protection agreement since
each counterpart is a major US. financial institution, and the Company
does not anticipate their non-performance.

(e) Dem”vativeInstmments and Hedging Astivitsks
In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standuds Board (“FASB”) issued
Statement of FinanciaJ Accounting Standards No. 133, Accountingfor
DerivativeInstiment~ andHedgingActiuitie~(“Statement No. 133”). Statement
No. 133 requires recording all derivative instruments as assets or liabilities,
measured at fair value. Derivatives that are not hedges must be adjusted to
fair value through income. If he derivative is a hedge, depending on the
nature of the hedge, changes in the fair value of derivatives will either be
offset against the change in fair value of the hedged assets, liabilities, or
firm commitments *rough earnings or recognized in ofier comprehensive
income undl the hedged item is recognized in easnings. The ineffective
portion of a derivative’s change in fair value wiU be immediately
recognized in earnings. Statement No. 133 is effective for fiscal yems
beginning after June 15, 1999. The Company is planning to adopt
Statement No. 133 effective January 1,2000 and does not anticipate that
the adoption will have a matetid impact on the Company’s financial
condition and results of operations.

@ Fair Value of Fiisanahl Instruments
The fair values of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and
cash equivalents, and mortgage notes payable, other notes payable, lines of
credit and other financial instruments, approximate thek carrying or contract
values. Wifi respect to the Company’s investment in mortgage notes, the fair
value as of December 31, 1998 and 1997 was estimated to be approximately
$91.8 don and $184.8 rniUion, respectively compared to the Company’s
carrying value of $88 miUion and $176.1 million, respectively. The estimated
fair ;al;e of the Company’s investment in mortgage notes represents the
estimated net present value based on the expected futwe property level cash

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents flows and au ~stimated current market discount rate.
The Company considers all demand deposits, money market accounts
and investments in certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements (g) Revenue Recognition

purchased with a maturity of three months or less, at the date of Rental income attributable to leases is recorded when due from tenants and
purchase, to be cash equivalents. The Company mtint~ns its cash and is recognized monthly as it is earned, which is not materidy different than

cash equivalents at financial institutions. The combined account on a straight-he basis. Interest income is recorded on an accrual basis.
balances at each institution periodically exceed the Federal Depositary
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insurance coverage, and, as a resuh, (h) Lease Agreements

there is a concentration of credit risk related to amounts on deposit in The majority of the leases entered into between a tenant and a Property

excess of FDIC insurance coverage. The Company believes that the risk for the rental of an apartment unit are year-to-year, renewable upon
is not significant, as the Company does not anticipate their consent of boti parties on a year-to-year or month to month basis.
non-performance.

(~ Income Taxes

(~ Defemed Finansing Costs Due to the structure of the Company as a REIT and the nature of the
Deferred financing costs include fees and costs incurred to obtain the operations of the Properties and Management Business, the resdts of
Company’s lines of credit, long-term fiancing and costs for certain operations contti no provision for Federal income taxes. However, the



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Company is subject to certain state and local income, excise or franchise
taxes. The aggregate cost of land and depreciable property for Federd
income tax purposes as of December 31, 1998 and 1997 was

approximately $9.1 billion and$6.2bMon, respectively.

~) Minorz”tyIvzterests
Net income is allocated to the Minority Interests based on their respective
ownership percentage of the Operating Partnership. Ownership
percentage is represented by dividing the number of OP Units held by the
Minority Interests by the total OP Units held by Minority Interests and
EQR. Issuance of additional Common Shares or OP Units changes the
ownership interests of both the &Unoriry Interests and EQR. Such
transactions and the proceeds therefrom are treated as capital transactions
and result in an allocation between shareholders’ equity and Minority
Interests to account for the change in the respective percentage ownerstip
of the underlying equity of the Operating Partnership.

(k) Use of Estineates
In preparation of the Compan~s financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles, management makes estimates and
assumptions that affect tie reported amounts of assets and liabtities and
disclosure of contingent assets anti liabfities at the date of the finudal
statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these esdrnates.

(~ Reportable Segtnents
During the fourth quarter of 1998, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, Di~closuresaboutSgments OJan
Entepri~e andRelatedInfovzation (“Statement No. 131”). Statement No. 131
superseded FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 14,
FinantialR@o&hg for Sgments of a Bu~inessEzte@ti~e (“Statement No. 14”).
Statement No. 131 establishes standards for the way that public business
enterprises report information regarding reportable operating segments.
The adoption of Statement No. 131 did not affect the Company’s resdts
of operations or financial position.

The Company has one primary reportable business segment, which
consists of investment in rental real estate. The Company’s primary
business is owning, managing and operaring multifamily residential
properties which ~ncludes the generation of rental and other related
income through the leasing of apartment units to tenants. The Company
also has a se~ent for corporate level activity including such items as
interest income earned on short-term investments, interest income earned
on investment in mortgage notes, general and administrative expenses, and
interest expense on mortgage notes payable and unsecured note issuances.
In addition, the Company has a segment for tird party management
activity that is immaterial and does not meet the threshold requirements of
Statement No. 131 as a reportable segment.

The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources primarily
based on th~ rental and other income generated from each property less
properry and maintenance expenses, real estate taxes and insurance, and
property management expenses, which is considered net operating income
(“NOI”). However, all other segment measurements are disclosed in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements, and accordingly the
accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those
described elsewhere in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

The Company also considers funds from operations (“FFCY’) to be a
primary measure of the performance of real estate companies including m
equity REIT. The Company believes that FFO is helpti to investors as a
measure of the performance of an equity REIT because, along with cash
flows from operating activities, financing activities and invesdng activities,
it provides investors an understantig of the ability of the Company to
incur and service debt and to make capital expenditures. FFO in and of
itself does not represent cash generated from operadng activities in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ~GAAP”)

and therefore should not be considered an alternative to net income as an
indication of the Company’s performance or to net cash flows from
operating activities as determined by GAAP as a measure of liquidity and
is not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund cash needs. The
Company’s calculation of FFO represents net income available to
Common Shares, excluding gains on dispositions of properties, gains on
early extinguishment of debt, and write-off of unamortized costs on
refinanced debt, plus depreciation on real estate assets, income allocated to
Minority Interests and amortization of deferred financing costs related to
the predecessor business. The Company’s calculation of FFO may differ
from the methodology for calcdating FFO utilized by other ~IT’s and,
accordingly, may not be comparable to such other REIT’s.

All revenues are from external customers and no revenues are generated
from transactions with other segments. There are no tenants who
contributed 10O/oor more of the Company’s total revenues during 1998,
1997 or 1996. Interest expense on debt is not allocated to individual
Properties, even if the Properties secure such debt. Further, minority

interest in consolidated subsidiaries is not allocated to the Properties.

There is no provision for income taxes as the Company is organized as a
REIT under the Internal Revenue Code.

6 . Real Estate

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts for investment in
real estate as of December 31, 1998 and 1997:

(Amounts in thousajzds) 1998 1997

Land $ 1,326,148 $ 791,980
Buildingrand Improvements 9,186,220 6,060,779
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 333,359 232,636
Construction in Progress 96;336 ____ 36,040
Real Estate 10,942,063 7,121,435
Accumdated Depreciation (718,491) (444,762)
Real Estate, net $10,223,572 $ 6,676,673

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts for the real estate
held for disposition as of December 31,1998 and 1997:

(hoz{ilts in thousands) 1998 1997
Land $ 4S89 $—
Buildin~ and Improvements 35:620 —
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 4,389 —

Construction in Progress — —

Real Estate 44.198 —
Accumdated Depreciation (14,312) —

Real Estate Held for Disposition $. 29,886 $_ —

In addition to tie MRY Merger, during the year ended December 31,
1998, the Company acquired the 99 Properties listed below, of which 96
were acquired from unafffiated third parties and 3 were acquired from an
affiliated party In connection with certain of the acquisitions listed below,
the Company assumed and/or entered into mortgage indebtedness of

approximately $459.8 million, issued OP Units having a value of

approximately $165 fion and issued JLIfflOrConvertible preference UnitS
having a value of approximately $4.8 million. The cash portion of these
transactions was funded primarily from proceeds raised from the various
capital transactions as discussed in Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, the various debt offerings as discussed in Note 13 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company’s line of
credit, proceeds received from the disposition of certain Properties and
working capital.



Total
Date Number Acquisition Cost
Acquired PrOper~ Location of units (~ thousands)
01/07/98 Cityscape St. tiuis Park, MN 156 S12.469
01/09/98 740 River Drive St. Pad. MN
01/13/98
01/16/98
01/16/98
01/29/98

02/05/98
02/25/98
02/27/98
03/02/98
03/02/98
03/02/98
03/20/98
03/26/98
03/26/98
04/01/98

04/01/98
04/01/98
04/01/98
04/01/98
04/01/98
04/01/98

Prospect Towers
Park Place

Park Westend
Emerald Bay

at Winter Park
Farnham Park

Plantation
Balcones Club
Coach Lantern

Foxcroft
Yarmouth Woods

Rolido Parque
The Fairfield

Tds of Va.8eyRmch
Sonterra

at Foo~ Ranch
Harbor Pointe

Gates at Cadson Center
GlenGar~ Club

Plum Tree III III
Ravinia

The Woodlands
of Brookfield

04/07/98 Vista Pointe at the Vallev
04/23/98
05/13/98

05/1 4/98

05/22/98

05/28/98

05/28/98

06/01/98

06/10/98

06/11/98
06/1 1/98

06/16/98

06/16/98

06/18/98

06/24/98

06/26/98

06/26/98

06/26/98

06/26/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/01/98

07/08/98

07/08/98

Emerson Place
Sierra Canyon

Norrbridge
The Arboretum

Woochidge
Townhomes

of Meadowbrook
Brookside

The Greystone
Coconut Palm Club

Portside Towffs
Defoor Viiage

Plmtadon Ridge
Wynbrook

Cross Creek
Copper Hill

Walker’sMark
Royal Crest Estates

Tyrone Gardens
Trowbridge

Belle!me Meadows
Chelsea Square

Olde Redmond Place
Surry Downs

Woodlake
Bramblewood

Creekside
GrandviewI & 11

Lincoh Green I & 11
Lincoh VillageI & 1[

Mountain Shadows
Parkside

Summerwood
Timbcnvood

Turf Club
Wtiowick
Woodlcaf
Parkcrest

Broadway
07/08/98 Cedar Ridge Townhomes
07/08/98 Fielder Crossing
07/08/98 Lakeshore at Preston
07/08/98 Lakewood Greens
07/08/98 River Park
07/08/98 Viias of Josey Ranch
07/08/98 Wimbledon Oaks
07/08/98 Pleasant Ridge
07/08/98 Sandstone
07/09/98 WoodridgeI
07/09/98 Wootildge 11
07/09/98 WoodridgeIII
07/09/98 Southwood
07/10/98 Martins Landing
07/10/98 The Lakes at Vii@
07/14/98 Summer Creek
07/15/98 Patchen Oaks

Hackensack, NJ
Houston>m

Richmond, VA

Winter Park, FL
Houston, ~
Houston, TX

Ausdn,TX
Scwborough, ME
Scarborough, ~

Yarmouth, ~
Houston, TX
Stamford, CT

Irtig, m

Foothill Ranch, CA
Milwaukee,Wf

Minnetonka, MN
Bloomingdales,IL

Hales Corners, Wf
GreenGeld,WI

Brookfield, WI
Irving, Tx

Boston>W
Santa Clarita,CA
Pleasant Hfl, CA

Canton, MA
Eagan, MN

Auburn Hills,MI
Bodder, CO
Atlanta, GA

Coconut Creek, FL
Jersey Clry,NJ

Atlmta>GA
Marietta, GA

Norcross, GA
Matthews,NC

Bedford, TX
Dallas,TX

Waterbury,CT
Randolph, MA

Arlsnra,GA
Bellevue,WA

Redmond, WA
Redmond, WA

Bellevue, WA
Kirtiand, WA
San Jose, CA

San Mateo, CA
Las Vegas, NV
Sunnyvale,CA
Larkspur,CA

Las Vegas>NV
Ution Chy, CA

Hayward,CA
Aurora, CO

Littleton, CO
Aurora, CO

Campbell, CA
Southfield,MI

Garland,~
Adingron, ~
AdingtOn,Tx

Piano,TX
Dallas, TX

Fort Worth, TX
Carrollto., TK
Adington, TX
Alington, ~

Euless, ~
Aurora, CO
Aurora, CO
Aurora, CO

Palo Alto, CA
Roswell,GA
Atlanta, GA

Plymouth,MN
Lexin~on, KY

162
157
229
312

432
216
232
312

90
104
138
369
263
216

300
595
435
250
332
206

148
231
462
232
221
156
200

230
144
150
300
527
156
454
318
420
204
164
156
165
210
180
113
192
122
288
108
192
456
174
342
300
208
162
336
324
100
178
210
288
121
119
302
252
280
198
248

63
40

212
116
256

99
300
464

72
192

(

13;181

36,399

13,612

13,453

15,984
15,811
10,322
12,556
4,917
5,094
6,862

‘11,070
46,018
10,868

31,590
25,566
28,296
19,278
22,466
13,445

15,572
19>167
72,520
16,465
20,329
15,721
12,097

13,851
13,811
7,501

20,782
119,302

13,543
23,652
13,643
23,530

7,068
7,055
7,350

10,771
12,033
17>153
12,733
18,985
10,948
23,476
14,883
30,890
18,040
27,586
48,637

9,413
18,399
11,857
16,354
17,921
4>734

25,605
11,704
9,334
4,865
4,668

18,584
11,085
11,107

8,877
10,359
2,451
1,846
8,693
4,756

10>497
21,340
17,809
28,370

4,467
9,541
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Total
Date Number Acquisition Cost
Acqaired P~Operry bcation of units (in thousands)
07/15/98 Lexinzton ViOaze AIDharetrd.GA 352 24.607
0;/15;98
07/15/98
07/15/98
07/15/98
07/16/98
07/21/98
07/22/98 !
07/31/98
07/31/98
07/31/98
07/31/98
08/05/98
08/14/98
08/21/98
09/25/98
09/29/98
09/29/98
12/01/98

Overl~ok Mano~I
Overlook Manor 11

Overlook Manor III
Brooklde 11

Coachman TraiIs
Colony Woods

irbors at Century Center
Brianvood

Skylark
Greenbaven

Alde~ood Park
Fernbrook Townhomes

North Creek
Esprit Del Sol

Smoketree Polo Club
Georgian Woods I

Georgian Woods III
Portland Center

F~ederick;MD
Frederick, MD
Frederick, MD
Frederick, ~
Plyinourh,MN

Bufingham, AL
Memphis,TN
Sunnyvale,CA

Union C1ry,CA
Union City,CA

Lynnwood , WA
Plymouth,MN

Everett, WA
Solana Beach, CA

Indio, CA
Wheaton, MD
Wheaton, MO

Portland, OR
Quincy MA

108
182

64
204
154
414
420
192
174
250
188

72
264
146
288

97
102
525

90

5;236
8,491
4,063
9,494

10,807
23,504
17,821
32,273
18,389
22,727
11,914

7,255
16,436
17,054

7,846
5,751
6,021

49,597
8,26712/11/98 Hall Place

12/22/98 Scarborough Square Rockvill;, MD 121 9,026
22,768 31,679,566

During 1997, the Company acquired 124 Properties, excluding the
Wellsford Merger and the EWR Merger, for a total acquisition cost of
$1.98 billion. Each P~operty was purchased from an unaffdiated third
party, except for 12 of the Properties, which were purchased from certain
afffiates of the Company, including Zell/MerrilJ Lynch Real Estate
Opportunity Partners Limited Partnership ~Zell/Merrill I“) and
subsidiaries of Zen/Merrill Lynch Real Estate Opportunity Partners
Limited Partnership II (“Zen/Merrill II”). The totaJ purchase price for the
Properties acquired from Zell/MerriJJ I and Zen/Merrill II was

approximately $162.2 million. In connection with these acquisitions, the
Company assumed mortgage indebtedness of approximately $597.2
rniUion and issued OP Units and Common Shares having a value of

approximately $191.3 miJlion.

7 ● Investment in Limited Partnerships

In December 1997, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement

with a mdtifarnily residential real estate developer whereby the Company
will make investments in limited partnerships to fund a portion of the totaJ
projecr development cost of new mdtifatiy developments in certaiu of
the Company’s target markets (the “Joint Venture Agreement”). During the
years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, the Company has funded

approtiately $23.9 million and $6.9 miJJion, respectively, in connection
wifi this agreement. The amounts invested are included in other assets on
the balance sheet. For additional information see Notes 15 and 20.

8 0 Real Estate Dispositions

During 1998, the Company disposed of the properties Jisted bdow Each
property was sold to an unaffiated third par~. The Company recognized a
net gain of approximately $21.7 milJionon the disposition of these
twenty Properties.

Disposition
Date Number - Ptice
D]sposed PrOperW Location of Utits (in thousands)
03/12/98 Mountain Brookfid~emont Chattanooga, TN 506 $16,700
05/oi/98 ~“e Place Fort My:ls, FL 230 8,500
05/15/98 Terraces at Peachtree Atlmta, GA 96 7,225
06/02/98 Stonelake Club Ocala>n 240 8,680
07/31/98 CountI’yClub I & 11 SiiverSprings,MD 376 20,750
09/04/98 Miramonte Scottsdde, AZ 151 9,500
09/30/98 Gold Pointe Tacoma, WA 84 5,700
10/06/98 Windridge Lakewood,WA 80 3,4caI
10/07/98 Augusta Oklahoma City,OK 197 8,536
10/07/98 Heritage P~k Oklahoma Cky, OK 452 12,996
10/07/98 Invitational Okl&oma City,OK 344 11,299
10/07/98 Raindance Oldaboma City,OK 504 11,214
10/07/98 Wlndrush Oklahoma Cky, OK 160 5,805
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Total Yew ended December 31
Date Number AcquisitionCost
Acqtied Property hcation of Units (in thousands)
10/29/98 Newport Cove Henderson, NV 140 8,485
12/09/98 Eastland on the Lake Colmbus, OH 376 7,400
12/10/98 MountainShadows LasVegas,Nv 300 10,125
12/’14/98 Ma Club FortWorth,TX 387 13,802
12/14/98 WhitedovePoiat I<ent,WA 96 6,916

4,719 $177,033

During 1997, the Company received sales proceeds of $36.5 miUion and
recognized atotalgainof approximately $13.8 million on the disposition
of seven Properties, the portion of one Property and a vacant land parcel..

9 ● Calculation of Net Income Per Weighted Average
Common Share

The following tables sets forth the computation of net income per
weighted average Common Share outstanding and net income per
weighted average Common Share outstanding – assuming dilution.

1998 1997 1996
Net income per weightedaverage

Conuno~ Share~utstandin~
Income before gain on dispositionof

properties,net and extraorhary
item per weightedaverage
Common Share outstanding $1.43 $1.58 $1.26

Gain on disposition of properties, net 0.22 0.21 0.52
Extraordinary items - - — — (0.08)
Net income per weightedaverage

Common Share outstanding $1.65 $1.79 $1.70

Net income per weighted average
Common Share outstanding -
assuming dilution

Income before gti on disposition
of properties, net and
exuxortiary item per weighted
averageCommon Share
outstiding - assumingdilution $1.42 $1.55 $1.25

Gain on disposition of properties, net 0.21 0.21 0.52
Extraordinary item — — (0.08)

Net income per weighted

(Anounts in thokranh extsptpers~are amounf~ Year endedDecember31, averageCommonShsre
1998 1997 1996 outstanding- assumingdilution $1.63 $1.76 $1.69

Numeratoc
Income before gain on disposition For additiona[disc[osures rsgordingthe eqlyee share optionb see Note 17.

of properties, net, extraordinary
item, a80cati0n of income to
Minority Interests and

Conutti”ble Pr#erredShares that could be conuertedinto 8,739,688 and 2,763,898 weightedsharer of
Commo]~shareswereoutstandingofDecember 31, 1998 and 1997, repectiue~,

preferred distributions $255,032 $176,014 $ 97,033
Allocation of iucome to

bnt Iuerenot it:cludedin tbc ro~utofion of diluted earniqrper share bera:tse the effects

would be anti-dilutive.

Minority Interests (18,529) (13,260) (14,299)

Distributions to 10 . Investment in Mortgage Notes, Net
preferred shareholders (92,917) (59,012) (29,015)—

Incomebefore gain on
dispositionof properties, net
and extraordinaryitem 143,586 103,742 53,719

Gain on dispositionof prt]perties,net 21,703 13>838 22,402
Exrraor&ary item — (3,S12)

Numeratorfor net income
per weightedaverage
Common Share outstanding 165,289 117,580 72,609

Effect of dilutivesecurities
AUocationof income
to Minority Interests 18,529 13,260 14,299

Numerator for net income
per weightedaverage
Common Shsre outscinding–
assumingtiution $183,818 $130,840 $86,908

Denominator
Denominator for net income

per weighted average
Common Share outstanding 100,370 65,729 42,586

Effect of difutivesecurities:
COndngentincremental
employeeshareoptions 865 1,099 412
OP Unis 11,343 7,453 8,104_

Denominator fi~rnet income
per weightedaverage
Common Share outstanding–
assumingdifution 112,578 74,281 51,102

Net income per weightedaverage
Common Share outstimding $ 1.65 $ 1.79 $ 1.70

Net income per weightedaverage
—

Common Share outstmding –
assumingdifufion $ 1.63 $ 1.76 $ 1.69

In 1995, the Company made an $89 million investment in partnership
interests and subordinated mortgages collateralized by 21 of the
Additional Properties. These 21 Additional Properties consist of 3,896
units, located in California, Colorado, New Mexico and Oldahoma. This
included an $87.1 million investment in second and third mortgages (net of
an original discount of approximately $12.7 miUion to heir face amount),
$1.6 ~on represented ~-one time payment for an interest rate protection
agreement and $0.3 miUion represented an investment for primarily a
4~.5V0limited partnership int~rest in the title-holding entities. As the
Company does not control the general partners of the title-holding entities
and substantially all of the Company’s investment is in second and third
mortgages (which are subordinate to first mortgages owned by third party
unaffiated entities), tie $87.1 million investment is accounted for as an
investment in mortgage notes. The $1.6 million payment made for the
interest rate protection agreement is included in deferred financing costs
and is being amortized over the term of the related debt. The investment
in limited partnership interests is accounted for under the equity method
and is included in other assets on the balance sheet.

As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, the second mortgage notes had a
combined principal balance of approximately $21.7 million and 825.5
million, respectively, and currently accrue interest at a rate of 9.45% per.-
annum, receive principal amortization from excess cash flow md have a
stated maturity date of December 31, 2019. As of December 31, 1998 and
1997, tie third mortgage notes had a combined principal balance of

approximately $71.1 Won and $71.1 million, respectively, and currentlY
accrue interest at a rate of 6.150/oper annum, plus up to an additional 30/0
per annum to the extent of available cash flow. Contingent interest on the
third mortgage notes is recognized to the extent it is received. The third
mortgage notes have a stated maturity of December 31, 2024. Receipt of
princ~p~ and interest on the second and third mortgage notes is
subordinated to the receipt of all interest on the tirst mortgage notes. With
respect to the discount on these notes, the unamortized balance at
December 31,1998 and 1997 was $6 million and $9 million, respectively.
During 1998, 1997 and 1996, the Company amortized $3 Non, $3.1
million and $0.6 miUion, respectively which is included in interest income-
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investment in mortgage notes in the consolidated statements of

operations. This discount is being amortized utilizing&e effective yield
method based on the expected life of the investment.

On April 28, 1997, the Company made an $88 million investment in six
mortgage loans collateralized by five mdtifamily properties. On April 1,
1998, the Company purchased tiese five mtitifatiy Properties and no
longer has an investment in the mortgage loans, but has assumed $50
million in debt in connection with this acquisition. These five Properties
are no longer included in the Additiond Properties, but are now included
in the Properties.

11 . Mortgage Notes pa~able

As of December 31, 1998, the Company had outstanding mortgage
indebtedness of approximately $2.3 billion encumbering216 of the
Properties. The carrying value of such Properties (net of accumulated
depreciation of $250 million) was approximately $3.8 btion. The mortgage
notes payables are generally due in monthly installments of principal and
interest. In connection with the Properties acquired during the year ended
December 31, 1998, including the effects of the MRY Merger, the
Company assumed the outstanding mortgage balances on 58 Properties in
the aggregate amount of $608.9 million, which includes a premium of

apprommately $1.5 million recorded in connection with &e MRY Merger.
As of December 31,1998, schedded maturities for the Company’s

outswnding mortgage indebtedness are at various dates through October
1,2033. During the yew ended December 31,1998, the effective interest
cost calcdated for all the Company’s debt was 7.1OO/o.During the yeat
ended December 31, 1998, tie Company repaid the outstanding mortgage
balances on nine Properties in the aggregate amount of $63.8 million.

Aggregate payments of principal on mortgage notes payable for each of
the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Total
Year (ii thousands)

[
1999 $25,489

2000 52,304

2001 249,754

2002 225,221

2003 83,003

Thereafter 1,700,744

NetUnsinordzedPremiums 4,496
Total $2,341,011

As of December 31,1997, the Company had outstanding mortgage
indebtedness of approximately $1.6 biUion encumbering 152 of the
Properties. The carrying valt~eof such Properties (net of accumtiated
depreciation of $145.1 miUion) was approximately $2.6 biUion. The
mortgage notes payables are generally due in monthly installments of
principal and interest. In connection with the Properties acquired during
the year ended December 31, 1997, including the effects of the Mergers,
tie Company assumed the outstanding mortgage balances on 90
Properties in the aggregate amount of $931 rniUion, which includes a
premium of approximately $3.9 million recorded in connection with the
EWR Merger.

During the year ended December 31, 1997, the effective interest cost

calcdated for all the Company’s debt was 7.5~o. During the year ended
December 31, 1997, the Company repaid the outstanding mortgage
balances on 29 Properties in the aggregate amount of$113.4 million.

The Company has, from time to time, entered into interest rate
protection agreements (tiancisl instruments) to reduce the potential
impact of increases in interest rates but believes it has limited exposure to
the extent of non-performance by the counterparties of each protection

agreement since each counterpart is a major U.S. financial institution, ~d
the Company does not anticipate their non-performance. No such
financial instrument has been used for tiading purposes.

During 1996 the Company terminated two interest rate protection
agreements that were initially entered into in connection with two
mortgage loans with notional amounts totaling $64.2 million. These two
agreements effectively converted fiese two mortgage loans to fixed rate
instruments based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”).
Upon the termination of these agreements the Company received
setdement payments of approximately $230,000.

Concurrent with the refinancing of certain tax-exempt bonds and as a
requirement of the credit provider of he bonds, the Financing
Partnership, which owns certain of the Properties, entered into interest
rate protection agreements, which were assigned to the credit provider as
additional security. The Financing Partnership pays interest based on a
fried interest rate and tie counte~par~ of tie agreement pays interest to
the Company at a floating rate that is calculated based on the Public
Securities Association Index for municipal bonds (“PSA Municipal
Index”). As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, the aggregate notional
amounts of these agreements were approximately $172.1 million and
$174.3 million, respectively. The fixed interest rates for these agreements
were 4.81‘/o,4.5280/oand 4.900/o.The termination dates are October 1,
2003, January 1,2004 and April 1,2004.

The Company simdtaneously entered into substantially identical reverse
interest rate protection agreements. Under these agreements the Company
pays interest monthly at a floating rate based on the PSA Municipal Index
and tie counterpart pays interest to the Company based on a f~ed
interest rate. As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, the aggregate notional

amount of these agreements was approximately $172.1 miilion and $174.3

million, respectively. The fixed interest rates rectived by the Company in

exchange for paying interest based on the PSA Municipal Index for these

agreements were 4.740/o, 4.45 80/0and 4.83°/0. The termination dates are

October 1, 2003, January 1,2004 and April 1,2004. Collectivel~ these

agreements effectively cost tie ComPany 0.070/oPer ann~ on fie current
outstanding aggregate notional amount.

The Company also has an interest rate swap agreement for a notional
amount of $228 rniUion, for which it will receive payments if the PSA
index exceeds 5.750/o,that terminates on December 1, 1999. Any payments
by the counterpart under this agreement have been collaterally assigned to
the provider of certain sureties related to the tax-exempt bonds secured by
certain of its Properties. The Company has no payment obligations to the
counterpart with respect to MS agreement.

In M~y 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate protection
agreement to effectively fix the interest rate cost of the Evans
Wirhycombe Financing Limited Partnership indebtedness to within a
range of 5.60/0to 6.00/0upon its refinancing. The agreement was for a
notional amount of $131 million with a settlement date of August
2001. There was no initial cost to the Company for entering into

tiis agreement.
In August 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate protection

agreement to effectively fix the interest rate cost of the Company’s
pianned financing in the fourth quarter of 1998. This agreement was
cancelled in November at a cost of approximately $3.7 million. This cost is
being amortized over the life of the finmcing for the fifteen previously
unencumbered Properties that occurred in November 1998.

In August 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate swap
agreement that bed the Company’s interest rate risk on a portion of the

Operating Partnership’s variable rate tax-exempt bond indebtedness at a
rate of 3.65125V0.This agreement was for a notional amount of $150
million witi a termination date of August 2003.

In August 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate swap
agreement tiat freed the Company’s interest rate risk on a portion of the
Operating Partnership’s variable rate tax-exempt bond indebtedness at a
rate of 3.683°/0.This agreement was for a notional amount of $150 million

with a termination date of August 2005.
The Company believes that it has limited exposure to the extent of non-

performance by the counterparties of the agreements, mentioned in the
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previous paragraphs, since each counterpart is a major U.S. financial
institution, and the Company does not anticipate their non-performance.

The ftir value of these instruments, discussed above, as ~f December
31, 1998 approximates their carrying or contract values.

1

12 . Lines of Credit
—

The Company has a revolving credit facility with Morgan Guaranty Trust
Company of New York (“Morgan Guaranty”) and Bank of America
Illinois (“Bank of America”) as co-agents to provide the Operadng
Partnership with potential borrowings of up to $500 million. This credit
facility matures in November 1999 and borrowings generally will bear
interest at a per annum rate of one, two, three or six month LIBOR, plus a

certain spread dependent upon the Company’s credit rating, which spread
is currently at 0.450/o, and is subject to an annual facility fee of ~750,000.

As of December 31,1998 and 1997,$245 million and $235 rnilLion of

borrowings were outstanding on this credit facility, bearing interest at a

weighted average rate of 6.040/0and 6.460/o,respectively.

In connection with the MRY Merger, the Company a~sumed an additional
credit facility with Ftist Union Bank (as agent) with potential borrowings of

up to $120 million. This revolving credit facility matures in September 2000
and borrowings generally will bear iuterest at a per annum rate of LIBOR,
plus a certain spread dependent upon the Company’s credit rating, which
spread is currendy at ().5()0/0, and is subject to an annual faciJity fee of
$120,000. As of December 31, 1998,$45 million was outstanding under this
fadty, bearing interest at a weighted average rate of 5.74Y0.

I

13 ● Notes

On May 16,1994, the Operating Partnership issued $125 m.iUionof
unsecured senior notes (the “1999 Notes’? in a private placement (the

“Debt Offering’? to qualified institutional buyers. The 1999 Notes were

issued at a discount, which is being amortized over the life of the 1999

Notes on a straight-line basis. As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, the

unamortized discount balance was $65,156 and $0.2 million, respectively.
The 1999 Not= are due May 15, 1999 and bear interest at a rate of 8.5V0,
which is payable semiannually in arrears on May 15 and November 15. In
February 1996 the Company entered into an interest rate protection
agreement that hedged the interest rate risk of tie 1999 Notes by locking
the effective few-year Treasury Rate, commencing May 15, 1999. There
was no current cost to the Company for entering into dlis agreement.

In December 1994, the Operating Partnership registered $500
million in debt securities pursuant to a debt shelf registration statement
(the “Debt Shelf Registration”) of which $100 million of unsecured
floating rate notes (the “Floating Rate Notes”) were issued by the
Operating Partnership on December 22, 1994 (the “Public Debt
Offering”). The Floating Rate Notes were repaid at maturity on
December 22, 1997.

In April 1995, the Operating Partnership issued $125 million of
unsecured fixed rate notes (the “2002 Notes”) in a public debt offering
(the “Second Public Debt Offering”). The 2002 Notes were issued at a
discount, which is being amortized over the life of the 2002 Notes on a
straight-line basis. As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, the unamortized
discount balance was approximately $0.5 million and $0.6 million,
respectively. The 2002 Notes are due on April 15, 2002 and bear interest at
‘7.950/., which is payable semiannually on each October 15 and April 15.
Prior to the issuance of the 2002 Notes, the Operating Partnership entered
into an interest rate protection agreement to effectively fix the interest rate
cost of such issuance. The Operating Partnership made a one-time
setdement payment of this protection transaction, which was

approximately $0.8 million and is being amortized over the term of the
2002 Notes on a straight-line basis. As of December 31, 1998 and 1997,
the unamortized balance of this cost was approximately $0.4 miUion and
$0.5 million, respectively.

In August 1996, the Operating Partnership issued $150 milJion of
unsecured fixed rate notes (the “2026 Notes”) in a public debt offering
(the “Third Public Debt Offering”). The 2026 Notes are due on August
15,2026 and bear interest at 7.570A,which is payable semiannutiy in
arrears on February 15 and August 15, commencing February 15, 1997.
The 2026 Notes ae redeemable at any time after August 15,2006 by the
Operating Partnership pursuant to he terms tiereof. Prior to the issuance
of the 2026 Notes, the Company entered into an interest rate protection
agreement to effectively fm tie interest rate cost of this issuance to 7.50/0.
The Operating Partnership received a one-time settlement payment from
this transactio~ which was approximately $0.6 million, whi~h amount is
being amortized over ten years on a straight-line basis. As of December
31, 1998 and 1997, the unamortized balance was approximately $0.4
million and $0.5 don, respectively,

In October 1997, the Operating Partnership issued $150 million of
unsecured fixed rate notes (the “2017 Notes”) in a public debt offering (the
“Fourth Public Debt Offering”). The 2017 Notes were issued at a discount,
which is being amortized over the life of d-re2017 Notes on a straight-line
basis. As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, the unamortized discount
balance was approximately $1.2 million and $1.2 tniUion, respectively, The
2017 Notes are due on October 15,2017 and bear interest at 7.1250A,
which is payable semiannually in arrears on April 15 and October 15,

commencing April 15, 1998. The 2017 Notes are redeemable at any time by
the Operadng Partnership pursuant to the terms thereof.

In November 1997, the Operating Partnership issued $200 million of
unsecured fixed rate notes in a public debt offeltig (the “Fifth Public Debt
Offering”). Of the 3200 million issued, 8150 nfion of these notes are due
November 15,2001 (the “2001 Notes”) and bear interest at a rate of
6.550A,which is payable semiannually in arrears on May 15 and November
15, commencing on May 15, 1998. The remaining $50 million of these
notes are due November 15, 2003 (the “2003 Notes”) and bear interest at a
rate of 6.65Y0,which is payable semiannually in arrears on May 15 and
November 15, commencing on May 15, 1998. The 2001 Notes were issued
at a discount, which is being amortized over the life of the 2001 Notes on
a straight-line basis. As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, the unamortized
discount balance was approximately fO.2 miUion and $0.3 million,
respectively. The 2003 Notes were issued at a discount, which is being
amortized over the life of the 2003 Notes on a straight-line basis. As of
December 31, 1998 and 1997, the unamortized discount balance was

approfiately $0.1 don and 80.1 ~on, respectively prior to the
issuance of the 2001 and 2003 Notes, the Operating Partnership entered
into two interest rate protection agreements to effectively fix the interest
rate costs of such issuances. The Operating Partnership made a one time
setdement payment of each protection transaction, which was

approximately $5 tion and $1.7 tniUion, respectively which are being
amortized over the term of the Notes on a straight-line basis. As of
December 31, 1998 and 1997, the unamortized balance of these costs were

approximately $3.6 don and $4.9 Won and $1.4 million and $1.6
million, respectively.

On February 3,1998, tie Operating Partnership filed a Form S-3
Registration Statement to register $1 bfion of debt securities. The SEC
declared this registration statement effective on February 27,1998.

In April 1998, the Operatig Partnership issued $300 million of
unsecured fixed rate notes (the “201 5 Notes”) in a public debt offering
(the “Sixth Public Debt Offering”). The 2015 Notes were issued at a
discount, which is being amortized over the life of the notes on a straight-
Iine basis. As of December 31, 1998 the unamortized discount balance was

approkately $1.8 million. The 2015 Notes are due April 13, 2015. The
annual interest rate on the 2015 Notes to April 13, 2005 (the “Remarkedng
Date”) is 6.63Y0,which is payable semi-annually in arrears on October 13

and April 13, commenting October 13, 1998. The 2015 Notes are subject
to mandatory tender to the remarketing agent on the Remarketing Date, at
the election of the remarketing dealer ~nd subject to certain lirnit~tions. If
the remarketing dealer, initially Salomon Brotiers Inc., does not purchase
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all tendered 2015 Notes on the Remarketing Date, or in certain other
limited circumstances, the Operating Partnership will be reqnired to
repurchase the 2015 Notes at 10OO/oof their principal amount plus accrued
interest. If the 2015 Notes are remarketed, the 2015 Notes will bear

interest at the rate determined by the remarketing dealer on and after the

Remarketing Date. The Operating Partnership re~eived approximately $8.1
million from the sale of the option to remarket the 2015 Notes on the
Remarketing Date, which is being amortized over the term of the 2015
Notes. As of December 31, 1998 the unamortized balance was

approximately $7.8 don. Prior to the issuance of the 2015 Notes, the
Operating Partnership entered into an interest rate protection agreement to
effectively fix the interest rate cost of such issuance until the Remarketing
Date. The Operating Partnership received a one-time settlement payment
from this transaction, which was approximately fO.6 m~on and is being
amordzed over seven years. As of December 31, 1998 the unamortized
balance was approximately $0.6 tniUion.

In August 1998, the Operating Partnership issued $100 million of
Remarketed Reset Notes (the “August 2003 Notes”) in a public debt

offering (the “Seventh Public Debt Offering”). The August 2003 Notes
were issued at a discount, which is being amortized over the life of the
notes on a straight-line basis. As of December 31, 1998 the unamortized
discount balance was approximately $0.3 million. The Augnst 2003 Notes
are due August 21, 2003. During the period from and including August 21,
1998 to but excluding August 23, 1999 (the “Initial Spread Period”) the
interest rate on the August 2003 Notes will be reset quarterly, and W
equal LIBOR plus an applicable spread. The spread during the Initial
Spread Period is .45V0.After the Initial Spread Period, the character (i.e.
fixed or floating rate) and duration of the interest rate on the notes and the
subsequent spread will be agreed to by the Operaring Partnership and the
remarketing underwriter, initially Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner and Smith,
Inc., on each applicable determination date. Beginning August 23, 1999,
the Operaring Partnership may elect to redeem the Augnst 2003 Notes on
certain dates and in certain circumstances.

In September 1998, the Operating Partnership issued $145 miUion of
unsecured bed rate notes (the “2000 Notes”) in a public debt offering
(the “Eighth Public Debt Offering”). The 2000 Notes were issued at a

discount, which is being amortized over the life of the notes on a stiaight-
Iin.ebasis. As of December 31, 1998 the unamortized discount balance was
approximately $0.5 don. The 2000 Notes are due September 15, 2000.
The amual interest rate on the 2000 Notes is 6.15Y0,which is payable
semi-annually in arrears on March 15 and September 15, commencing
March 15,1999. The Operating Partnership received net proceeds of

appromately $144.5 tniUion in connection with this issu~ce.

Included in the note balance are four unsecured note issuances assumed
in connection with the Wellsford Merger. These are discussed in the
following tiree paragraphs.

In January 1995,$100 tniUion of senior unsecured notes due February
1, 2002 (the “2002-A Notes”) were issued. The 2002-A Notes bear interest
at a rate of 9.3750/o,which is payable semiannually in arrears on Augnst 1
and February 1. In connection with the assumption of the 2002-A Notes,
the Company recorded a premium in tie amount of $5.6 million, which is
being amortized over the remaining life of the notes on a straight-line
basis. As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, the unamortized premium
balance relating to the 2002 -A Notes was approximately $3.7 million and
$4.9 million, respectively.

In August 1995,$125 million of senior unsecured notes were issued. Of
the $125 million issued, $55 don of these notes are due August 15,2000
(the “2000 Notes”) and bear interest at a rate of 7.25~o, which is payable
semiannually in arrears on February 15 and August 15. The remaining $70
tion of these notes are due August 15,2005 (the “2005 Notes”) and
bear interest at a rate of 7.75°h, which is payable semiannually in arrears on
February 1 and Augnst 1.

In November 1996,$25 rniUionof medium term unsecured floating rate
notes due November 24, 1999 (the”1 999-A Notes”) were issued. The 1999-A

Notes bear interest at 90 day ~OR plus 0.32V0,which is payable quarterly in
arrears on the 25th day of each February, May,August and November.

Also included in the note balance are two unsecured note issuances
assumed in connection with the EWR Merger. These are discussed in the
following two paragraphs.

In April 1997,$75 million of senior unsecured notes due April 15,2004
(the “2004 Notes”) were issued. The 2004 Notes beat interest at a rate of

7.5~0, which is payable semimually in arrears on October 15 and April 15.
In connection with the assornption of the 2004 Notes, the Company

recorded a premium in the amount of $1.7 million, which is being amortized
over the remaining life of the notes on a straight-line basis. As of December
31,1998 and 1997, the unamortized premium balance relating to the 2004
Notes was approximately $1.5 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

In April 1997,$50 million of senior unsecured notes due April 15,2007
(the “2007 Notes”) were issued. The 2007 Notes bear interest at a rate of
7.625Y0,which is payable setniannutiy in arrears on October 15 and April

15. In connection-with the assumption of the 2007 Notes, the Comp~y
recorded a premium in the amount of $1.6 Won, which is being amortized
over the remaining life of the notes on a straight-line basis, As of December
31, 1998 and 1997, the unamortized premium balance reladng to the 2007
Notes was approximately $1.4 million and $1.6 million, respectively.

Also included in the note balance are six unsecured note issuances
assumed in connection with the MRY Merger. These are discussed in the
following six paragraphs.

In August 1995, $40 million of senior unsecured notes due October 1,
2002 (the “2002 MRY Notes”) were issued. The 2002 MRY Notes bear
interest at a rate of 7.250/o, which is payable semiannually in arrears on
April 1 and October 1. In connection with the assumption of the 2002
MRY Notes, the Company recorded a premium in the amount of $0.5
million, which is being amortized over the remaining life of the notes on a
straight-line basis. As of December 31, 1998, the unamortized premium
balance relating to the 2002 MRY Notes was approximately $0.5 million.

In November 1995,$40 million of senior unsecnred notes due November
1,2003 (the “2003 MRY Notes”) were issued. The 2003 MRY Notes bear
interest at a rate of 6.8750/o,which is payable semiannually in atrears on May
1 and November 1. In connection with the assumption of the 2003 MRY

Notes, the Company recorded a premium in the amount of $0.3 million,
which is being amortized over the rem-g hfe of the notes on a straight-
line basis. As of December 31, 1998, the unamortized premium balance
relating to the 2003 MRY Notes was approximately $0.3 rniUion.

In November 1995,$40 million of senior unsecured notes due November
1,2004 (the “2004 MRY Notes”) were issued. The 2004 MRY Notes bear
interest at a rate of 6.875°/0,which is payable serniannufly in arrears on May
1 and November 1. In connection with the assumption of the 2004 MRY
Notes, the Company recorded a preminrn in the amount of $0.2 don,
which is being amortized over the remaining life of the notes on a straight-
Iine basis. As of December 31,1998, the unarnordzed premium balance
reladng to the 2004 MRY Notes was approximately $0.2 million.

In June 1995,$120 million of senior unsecured notes due June 15, 2.00s
(the “2005 MRY Notes”) were issued. The 2005 MRY Notes bear interest
at a rate of 7.25°/0, which is payable semiannually in arrears on June 15 and
December 15. In comection with the assumption of the 2005 MRY
Notes, the Company recorded a premium in the amount of 81.6 rniUion,
which is being amortized over the remaining life of the notes on a straight-
Iine basis. As of December 31, 1998, the unamortized premium balance
relating to the 2005 MRY Notes was approximately $1.6 million.

In October 1997,$50 million of senior unsecured notes due October
30,2006 (the “2006 MRY Notes”) were issued. The 2006 MRY Notes bear x
interest at a rate of 6.69°/0,which is payable semiannually in arrears on May “~
1 and November 1. In connection with the assumption of the 2006 MRY g
Notes, the Company recorded a discount in the a~ount of $0.4 rniUion, ‘~
which is being amortized over the remaining life of the notes on a straight- ~
line basis. As of December 31, 1998, the unamortized discount balance .=
relating to the 2006 MRY Notes was approximately $0.4 million. z
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In Jdy 1997,$50 million of senior unsecured notes due August 1,2007
(&e “2007 MRY Notes”) were issued. The 2007 MRY Notes bear interest
ata rate of 6.9OO/o,which ispayable semiannually inarrears on Februaty 1
and August 1. In connection with the assumption of the 2007 ~Y Notes,
the Company recorded a discount in the amount of $0.2 million, which is
being amortized over the remaining life of the notes on a straight-line
basis. As of December 31, 1998, the unamortized discount balance relating
to the 2007 MRY Notes was approximately $0.2 million.

In regard to aJl of the interes~ rate protection agreements mentioned in
the previous paragraphs, the Company believes that it has limited exposure
to the extent of non-performance by the counterparties of each agreement
since each counterpart is a major U.S. financial institution, and the
Company do= not anticipate their non-performance.

14 . Employee Transactions 1

Douglas Crocker II, President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company and three other officers had purchased an aggregate of 190,000
Common Shares at prices which range from $26 to $31.625 per Common
Share. These purchases were financed by loans made by the Company in
the aggregate amount of approximately $5.3 million. The employee notes
accrue interest, payable in atrears, at rates that range from 6.150/oper
annum to 7.930/oper annum. ScheduIed maturities are at various dates
through March 2005. The employee notes are recourse to Mr. Crocker and
the three other officers and are collateralized by pledges of the 190,000
Common Shares purchased.

In addition, as of December 31, 1998, the outstanding principal balance
on additional notes issued to Mr. Crocker and four other officers was

approfiately $1.1 million. These notes acaue interest, payable in arrears,
at one month LIBOR plus 20/0per annum. Schedded maturities are at
various dates through March 2003. Subsequent to December 31, 1998, Mr.
Crocker paid a principal installment on his note in the amount of $80,570.
The notes are recourse to M. Crocker and the four other officers and are
collateralized by pledges of options and share awards.

Mr. Crocker has a deferred compensation agreement (the “Deferred
Compensation Agreement”) which Deferred Compensation Agreement
will provide Mr. Crocker with a salary benefit after his termination of
employment witi the Company. If Mr. Crocker’s employment is
terminated without cause, he wodd be entitled to annual deferred
compensation for a ten-year period commencing on the termination date
in an amount equal to $500,000 (increased by a CPI index each year
beginning January 1, 199~, mdtiplied by a percentage equal to 10VOper
yeat since December 31, 1995. In the event Mr. Crocker’s employment is
terminated as a resdt of his death, permanent disabfity or incapacity, he
would be entitled to a sitnilat amount except the annual percentage wotdd
be 15% and the maximum paid per year wotid not exceed 100VOof his
average base salary. Shodd Mt. Crocker be terminated for cause or should
he choose to leave voluntarily without good reason, he wodd not be
entitled to any deferred compensation. The Company recognized

approximately $0.3 million, $0.3 million and $0.3 million of compensation
expense for the years ended 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively, related to
tis Deferred Compensation Agreement.

In addition, Gerald Spector, Executive Vice President and Chief
Operating Officer of tile Company, entered into a Deferred Compensation
Agreement in 1997, which agreement provides Mr. Spector with a salary
benefit after his termination of employment with the Company, If Mr.

Spector’s employment is terminated without cause, he would be entitled to
annual deferred compensation for a 15-year period commencing on the
termination date in an amount equal to 750/0of his average annual base
compensation (before bonus) for the prior five calendar years, multiplied
by a percentage equal to 6.67% per each year since December 31,1996. In
the event ~. Spector’s employment is terminated as a resdt of his death,
permanent disability or incapacity, he would be entitled to a similar amount
except that &e annual percentage would be 10O/o,not 6.670/o.Shotid M.

Spector be terminated for cause or shodd he choose to leave voluntarily
without good reason, he wodd not be entitled to any deferred
compensation, The Company has recognized approximately $0.2 million
and $0.2 million of compensation expense for the years ended 1998 and
1997, respectively related to Ms Deferred Compensation Agreement.

The Board of Trustees also approved a share distributions agreement
(the “Share Distributions Agreement”) for Mr. Crocker. On January 18,
1996, Mr. Crocker was issued options to purchase 100,000 Common
Shares at the then current market price of the Common Shares, which vest
over a three-year period and are effective for ten years. Pursuant to the
terms of the Share Distributions Agreement, upon the exercise of any of
these options, W. Crocker wodd be entitled to an amount equal to the
amount of Common Share dividends that would have been paid on these
shares being exercised had he owned these shares for the period from
January 18,1996 until the date of the exercise of the options in question.
Mr. Crocker’s death or termination of employment wodd not affect the
Share Distributions Agreement. The Company recognized approximately
$0.3 million, $0.2 million and $0.2 million of compensation expense for
the years ended 1998,1997 and 1996, respectivel~ related to this Share
Distributions Agreement.

The Company has established a defined contribution plan (the “401(k)
Plan”) that provides retirement benefits for employees that meet minimum
employment criteria. The Company contributes 100°/0of the fist 40/oof
eligible compensation that a participant contributes to the 401(k) Plan.
Participants are vested in the Company’s contributions over five years. The
Company made contributions in the amount of $0.8 million and $1.4
million for the years ended December 31,1996 and 1997, respectively and
expects to make contributions in the amount of approximately $2.3 million
for the yeat ended December 31,1998.

15 ● Deposits-restricted

Deposits-reswicted as of December 31, 1998 primarily included the
following
.

.

.

●

a deposit in the amount of $20 miJlion held in a third party escrow
account to provide collateral for third party construction financing in
connection with the Joint Venture Agreemenq

approximately $22.2 fion held ffl ~rd party escrow acco~ts
representing proceeds received in connection with the Company’s
~sposition of four properties;

approximately $15.3 Won for tenant security and utility deposits for
certain of the Company’s Properties; and

approximately $11.8 million of other deposits.
Deposits-restricted as of December 31,1997 primarily included the
following:
● a deposit in the amount of $20 million held in a &d party escrow

account to provide collateral for third party construction financing in
comection with the Joint Venture Agreemen~

s approximately $7.6 million for tenant security and utili~ deposits for
certain of the Company’s Properties; and

“ approximately $8.8 million of other deposits.

16 * Summarized Pro Form-a Condensed Statement of

Operations (Unaudited)

The following Summarized Pro Forma Condensed Statement of
Operations has been prepared as if the fo~owing had occurred on January
1, 1998 (as described in Note 3, Note 4, Note 6, Note 8, Note 11 and
Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements):
● the January 1998 Common Share Offerin~
● the February 1998 Common Share Offerings;
● the March 1998 Common Share Offerin~
● the April 1998 Common Share Offering
● the repurchase of Common Shares in August and September 1998;
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● the Sixth Public Debt Offerin~
● the Seventh Public Debt OfferinG
● the Eighth Public Debt Offerin~
● themortgage fmancingof 15previously unencumbered Properties for

$226 dOV

● the acquisition of an additional 99 Properties, including the related
assumption of $459.8 rniJlion of mortgage indebtedness, the issuance of
Junior Convertible Preference Units with a value of $4.8 million and the
issuance of OP Units with a value of $165 million;

● the acquisition of the 118 ~Y properties, including the related
assumption of $723.5 million of debt, the issuance of Common Shares
witi a market value of $1 billion, the assumption of MRY’s minority
interest with a market vahre of $40.2 million, and the redesignation of
Preferred Shares with a liquidation value of 8369.1 million;

● the disposition of 20 properties; and
● the repayment of the outstanding mortgage balances on nine properties

totfing $63.8 million.
This wotid result in 117,174,120 Common Shares outstantig on January
1, 1998. In management’s opinion, the Summarized Pro Forma Condensed
Statement of Operations does not purport to present what actual results
would have been had the above transactions occurred on January 1, 1998,
or to project results for any future period. The amounts presented in the
following statement are in thousands except for share amounts:

Summarized Pro Forma Condensed Statement of Operations

for tie Year Ended December 31, 1998

Total Rrvenues $1,616,499

Total Expenses 1,323,525

Pro Forma income before allocation to MinoritvInterests 292,974

Pro Forma net income 274,589

Preferred distributions 117,535

Pro Forma net income availablefor Common Shares $ 157,054

Pro Forma net income per Common Share $ 1.34

17 ● Share Option Plan

Pursuant to the Company’s Fourth Amended and Restated 1993 Share
Option and Share Award Plan (the “Fourth Amended Option and Award
Plan”) officers, directors, key employees and consukants of the Comp~ny
may be offered the opportunity to acquire Common Shares through the
grant of share options (“Options”) including non-qualified share options
(“NQSOS”), incentive share options (“1S0s”) and share appreciation rights
(“SARS”) or may be granted restricted or non-restricted shares. Additionally,
under the Option and Award Plan, certain officers of the Company maybe
awarded Common Shares, subject to conditions and restrictions as
described in the Option and Award Plan. Options and SARS are sometimes
referred to herein as “Awards”. As to the Options that have been granted
through December 31, 1998, generally, one-third are exercisable one year
after the initial gran~ one-third are exercisable two years following he date
such Options were granted and the remaining one-third are exercisable
three years following the date such Options were granted.

The Company has reserved 8,000,000 Common Shares for issuance

under the Option and Award Plan. The Options generally are granted at
the fair market value of the Company’s Common Shares at the date of
grant, vest over a three year period, are exercisable upon vesting and expire
ten years from the date of grant. The exertise price for all Options under
the Fourth Amended Option and Award Plan shall not be less than the fair
market value of the underlfig Common Shares at the time the Option is
granted. The Fourth Amended Option and Award Plan will terminate at
such time as no further Common Shares are available for issuance upon
the exercise of Options and all outstanding Options have expired or been
exercised. The Board of Trustees may at any time amend or terminate the
Fourth Amended Option and Award Plan, but termination will not affect

Awards previously granted. Any Options, which had vested prior to such a
termination, would remain exercisable by the holder thereof.

Pursuant to tie MRY Merger, the Company assumed MRY’s Stock
Option and Incentive Plan. As to the Options that have been granted
through October 18, 1998, generally one-fifth are exercisable one year
after the initial grant, one-fifth are exercisable two years following “he date
such Options were granted, one-fifth are exercisable three years following
the date such Options were granted, one-fifth are exercisable four years
following the date such Options were granted and the remaining one-fifth
are exercisable five years following the date such Options were granted.

The Company will not issue common shares under the MRY Stock
Option and Incentive Plan. The Options already grmted under the plan
were assumed with the original grant dates. The number of original MRY
Options and the original MRY grant prices were converted to the
Company’s equivalent using a conversion ratio of 0.54. They will vest over
a five-year period, are exercisable upon vesting and expire ten years from
the date of grant. The MRY Stock Option and Incentive Plan will
terminate at such rime all outstanding Options have expired or been
exercised. Any Options, which had vested prior to such assumption, wodd
remain exercisable bv the holder thereof.

The Company ha; elected to apply the provisions of Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accountingfor Stock Issuedto Enplgees

(“APB No. 25”), in the computation of compensation expense. Under
APB No. 25’s intrinsic value method, compensation expense is determined
by computing the excess of tie market price of the shares over the
exercise price on the measurement date. For the Company’s share options,
the intrinsic vahre on the measurement date (or grant date) is zero, and no
compensation expense is recognized. FASB Stat~ment of “Financial
Accoundng Standards No. 123, Accountingfor Stock-BasedCor~~en~ation

(“Statement No. 123”), requites the Company to disclose pro forma net
income and income per share as if a fair value based accounting method
had been used in the computation of compensation expense. The fair
value of the options computed under Statement No. 123 would be
recognized over the vesting period of tie options. The fair vahre for the
Company’s options was estimated at the time the options were granted
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-
average assumptions for 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively risk-free
interest rates of 6.35Y0,6.33°/0 and 5.37°/0;dividend yields of 6.98°/0,
5.3?,7. and 5.98VO;voladlity factors of the expected market price of the
Company’s Common Shares of 0.226,0.218 and 0.21~ and a weighted-
average expected life of the option of seven years.

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in
estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions
and are fdy transferable. In addition, option valuation model; require the
input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price
volatility. Because the Company’s Options have characteristics significantly
different from those of traded options, and because changes in the
subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in
management’s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a
reliable single measure of the fair value of its Options.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the
Options is amortized to expense over the Options’ vesting period. The
following is the pro forma information for the three years ended
December 31,1998,1997 and 1996 (unaudited):

1998 1997 1996

Pro forma net income available

to Common Shsres $155,855 $112,482 $70,905 2
Pro forma income per weightedAveraged

.-
.

Common Share Outstanding $ 1.55 $ 1.71 $ 1.66 z
.E
.
:

5.-
.
.
m
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The table below summarizes the Option activi~ for the Fourth Amended
Option and Award Plan and the ~Y Stock Option and Incentive Plan for
the three years ended December 31, 1998,1997 and 1996:

Common WeightedAverage
Shares Subject to Exercise Price

Options or Awards Pa Common Shine
Balance atJanuary 1,1996 1,359,648 $26.97

Options granted 1,195,962 $30.54
Options cancelled (74,s 19) $29.00
Options exercised 0s1,178) , $26.64

Balance at December 31, 1996 2,329,913 $28.76
Options granted 2,025,321 $44.00
Options cancelied (68,258) $34.50
Options exercised — (180,138) $27.7:3

Batance at December 31, 1997 4,106,838 $36.22
Options granted 1,962,050 $50.30
MRY Options granted (assumed) 925,830 $38.S3
Options cancelled (321,418) $47.19
~Y Options cancelled
Options exersized (194,0;) $29.~
MRY Options exercised (237,153) $37,22

Balance at December 3! 1998 6,242,126 : $40.60

As of December 31,1998, 1997 and 1996,2,865,214 shares, 1,329,516
shares and 898,075 shares were exercisable, respectively. Exercise prices for
Options outstanding as of December 31, 1998 ranged from $26 to
$54.8125. Expiration dates ranged fromJdy 12,2003 to October 19,2008.
The remaining weighted-average contractual life of those Options was 7.85
years. The weighted-average grant date fair value of Options granted
during 1998 was $6.28.

18 ● Employee Share” Purchase Plan

Under the Company’s Employee Share Purchase PlarI certain eligible
officers, trustees aud employees of the Company may annually acquire up
to $100,000 of Common Shares of the Company. The aggregate number
of Common Shares available nuder the Employee Share Purchase Plan
shall not exceed 1,000,000, subject to adjustment by the Board of Trustees.
The Common Shares may be purchased quarterly at a price equal to 85%
of the lesser of: (a) the closing price for a share on the last day of such
quatte~ and (b) he greater ofi (i) the closiog price for a share on the first
day of such quarter, and (ii) the average closing price for a share for all the
business days in the quarter. During 1996, the Company issued 39,458
Common Shares at a net price of $30.44 per share. During 1997, the
Company issued 84,183 Common Shares at net prices that ranged from
$35.63 per share to $42.08 per share and raised approximately $3.2 million
in connection therewith. During 1998, the Company issued 93,521
Common Shares at net prices that ranged from $35.70 per share to $42.71
per share and raised approximately $3.7 million in confection therewith.

I

19 H Distribution Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan_ ,

On November 3, 1997, the Company filed with the SEC a Form S-3
Registration Statement to register 7,000,000 Common Shares pursuant to a
Distribution Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan. The registration
statement was declared effective on November 25, 1997.

The DRIP Plan of the Company provides holders of record and
beneficial owners of Common Shares, Preferred Shares, and limited
partnership interests iu the Operating Partnership with a simple and
convenient method of invesdng cash distributions in additioti Common
Shares. Common Shares may also be purchased on a monthly basis with

optional cash payments made by participants in the Plan and interested
new investors, not currently shareholders of the Company, at the market

price of the Common Shares less a discount ranging between OVOand 5?/.
(as determined in accordance witi tie DRIP Plan).

20 . commitments and contingencies

The Company as an owner of real estate, is subject to various
environmental laws of Federal and local governments. Compliance by the
Company with existing laws has not had a material adverse effect on the

Company’s financial condition and results of operations. However, the
Company cannot predict the impact of new or changed laws or regulations
on its current Properties or on properties that it may acquire in the fiture.

The Company does not believe there is auy litigation threatened against
the Company other than routine litigation arising out of the ordinary
course of business, some of which is expected to be covered by liability
iusnrance, none of which is expected to have a material adverse effect on
the consolidated finanual statements of the Company.

In December 1997, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement
with a mnkifatn.ily residential real estate developer whereby the Company
will make investments in a limited partnership to fund its portion of the
project cost. During 1997 and 1998, the Company fmded a total of $6.9
tion md $23.9 milJion, respectively, and during 1999 the Company
expects to fund approximately $74.9 million in connection with this
agreement. Subsequent to December 31, 1998, the Company has fmded
approximately $1 million. In addition, the Company also fmded $20
million to guarantee third party construction financing and is obligated to
fund up to an additional $20 million.

In regards to certain properties that were waler development and/or
expansion in 1998, the Company tided $31.6 million. In 1999, the

Company expects to fwd $53.9 million related to the contiuued
development and/or expansion of as many as five Properties.

In regards to certti properties that were under earnoutidevelopment
agreements in 1998, no amouts were fuuded. The Company expects to
fid $60.4 million related to bee eatnout/development projects expected
to be finished during 1999. Subsequent to December 31, 1998, the
Company has tided $16.2 million relating to the completion\acquisition
of Copper Canyon. In addition, the Company may be required to fmd an
additiomd $1 million earnout payment to the developer for Copper Canyon
if certain specified operation levels are met.

In connection with the Wellsford Merger, the Company has provided a
$14.8 million credit enhancement with respect to bonds issued to fiance
certain public improvements at a multifamily development project. Pursuant
to the terms of a Stock Purchase Agreement witi Wellsford Red Properties,
Inc. (’w Newco”), the Company W agree to purchase up to 1,000,000
shares of WRP Newco Series A Preferred at $25.00 per share over a three-
year period ending on May 30,2000. As of December 31, 1998, no shares of
WRP Newco Series A Preferred had been acquired by the Company.

In connection with the MRY Merger, tie Company extended a $25
million, one year, non-revolving Senior Debt Agreement to MRYP Spinco,
At December 31,1998, approximately $18.3 million was outstanding,
bearing interest at LI130R plus 250 basis points. The Company has a
potential obligation to fund up to an additional $6.7 rniJlion under the
Senior Debt Agreement.

The Company has lease agreements with an afftiated party covering
office space occupied by the management offices located in Tampa,
Florida (the “Tampa Office”), Atlanta, Georgia (the “Atlanta Office”); and
Chicago, Itinois (the “Chicago Office”). The Tampa Office agreement
expires on October 31, 2001, the Atlanta Office agreement expires on June
20,2001 and the Chicago Office agreement expires on July 11,2000.

The Company also has six additional lease agreements with unafffiated
parties covering space occupied by the manage-ment offices located in
Dallas, Texas (the “DWas Office”); Bethesda, Maryland (the ‘Bethesda
Office”); Denver, Colorado (the “Denver Office”); Seattle, Washington
(the “Seattle Office”); Scottsdale, Arizona (the “Scottsdale Office”) and
Irvine, California (the “Irvine Office”). The lease agreement for the Ddas
Office expires on September 30,2005, the lease agreement for the
Bethesda Office expires on February 1,2004, fie lease agreement for the
Denver Office expires on December 31,2002, tie lease agreement for the
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Seattle Office expires on June 30,2003, the lease agreement for the.

Scottsdale Office expires on July 31,2004 and the lease agreement for tie

Irvine Office expires on July 31,2000.

The Company also has a lease agreement with an affiated party

covering ofbcespace occupied by the corporate headquarters located in

Chicago, Ifinois. This agreement, as amended, expires on July 31,2001. In

addition, commencingJune 15, 1998, rhe Company increased the office

space occupied by its corporate PersOnnel. The lease agreement covering
the additional space expires on December 31,2004. Subsequent to

December 31,1998, the Company is planning on increasing its office space

ag~~thl easingterms to be deterfied.
During the years ended December 31,1998,1997 and 1996, tot~

rentals, including a portion of real estate taxes, insurance, repairs and

utities, aggregated $2,528,150, $1,491,766 and $1,020,311, respectively.

The minimum basic aggregate rental commitment under the above

described leases in years succeeding December 31, 1998 is as follows:

Year Amount
1999 $ 2,689,662
2000 2,764,818
2001 2,515,258
2002 2,238,029
2003 1,979,775
Toral $ 12,187,542

21 ● Transactions with Related Parties

In comection wifi the Wellsford Merger, Jeffrey Lynford and Edward

Lowenthal (trustees of the Company) each executed a consulting

agreement witi the Company. Each consulting agreement has a term of

five years from May 30, 1997, ~e closing date of the Wellsford Merger.

Pursuant to the consuhing agreements, each of Messrs. Lynford and

Lowenthal will serve as a senior management consukant to the Compmy

and will receive compensation at the rate of $200,000 per year plus

reimbursement for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses.

In connection with the EWR Merger, in December 1997, Stephen Evans
(a trustee of the Company) executed a consulting agreement with an
af~ate of the Company. The consuking agreement has a term of two years
and expires on December 31, 1999. Pursuant to the consulting agreement,
Mr. Evans will serve as a senior management consukant to the Company
and will receive compensation at the rate of $225,000 per year. Mr. Evans
also received m option to purchase 115,500 Common Shares that will vest

in three equal annual installments and will have an exercise price equal to
$50.125 per Common Share. Mr. Evans will also be eligible to participate in
all of the Company’s employee benefit plans in which persons in
comparable positions participate, treating Mr. Evans as an employee.

In connection with the aftiated lease agreements discussed in Note 20,
the Company paid Equity Office Holdings, L.L.C. (’<EOH”) $114,539,
$145,511 and 8118,919 in connection with the Chicago Office, 8194,506,
$177,793 and $137,638 in connection with the Tampa Office and $772,320,
$632,693 and 8409,392 in connection with the space occupied by the
corporate headquarters for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 ad
1996, respectively. Also, the Company paid $55,117 in connection with the
Atlanta Office for the yeat ended December 31,1998. Amounts due to EOH
were $136,000 and $59,675 as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Equity Group Investments, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries, including,
Equity Properties & Development, L.F. and Equity Properties Management
Corp. (collectively, “EGI”), have provided certain services to the Company
which include, but are not limited to, investor relations, corporate
secretarial, real estate tax evaluation services and market consuking and
research services. Fees paid to EGI for these services amounted to
approximately $1.1 miUion, $1.1 won and $1.3 million for the years ended
December 31,1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. Amounts due to EGI

were $57,408 and $74,578 as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
Artery Property Management, Inc., a red estate property management

company ~APMI’~ in which Mr. Goldberg, a trustee of the Company, is a
two-thirds owner and chairman of tie board of directors, provided the
Company consuking services with regard to propec~ acquisitions and
additional business opportunities. Fees paid for those services and
reimbursed expenses amounted to approximately $0.2 miUion for the year
ended December 31, 1996. In connection with the acquisition of certain
Properties from Mr. Goldberg and his affiliates during 1995, the Company
made a loan to Mr. Goldberg and AP~ of 815,212,000 evidenced by two
notes and secured by 465,541 OP Units. At December 31, 1998,

approximately 814.6 Won was outstanding and 445,540 OP Units
secured this loan. In connection with the acquisition of certain Properties
from Mr. Goldberg and his affiliates during 1998, the Company made a
$12,000,000 revolving loan to Mr. Goldberg and his wife in September
1998. At December 31, 1998, approximately $3.9 million was outstanding.

Certain related entities provided services to the Company. These
included, but were not limited to, Rosenberg & Liebentritt, P.C., which
provided legal services, and Arthur A. Greenberg, which provided tax
advisory services. Fees paid to these related entities in the aggregate
amounted to approximately $1.3 miUion and $0.7 tion for the years
ended December 31, 1997 and 1996, respectively. In addition, The
Riverside Agency Inc., which provided insurance brokerage services, was
paid fees and reimbursed premiums and loss claims in the amount of $0.3
million and $4.1 million for the years ended December 31,1997 and 1996,
respectively As of December 31, 1997, $643,519, was owed to Rosenberg
& Liebenttitt, F.C. for legal fees incurred in connection with securities
offerings, litigation matters, property acquisitions and other general
corporate matters.

Rudnick & Wolfe, a law firm in which Mr. Errol Halperin, a trustee of
the Company, is a partner, provided legal services to the Company. Fees
paid to fis ~m amounted-to approximately $2.2 million, $2.3 million and
$4,300 for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively

Seyfartb, Shaw, Fairweather & Geraldson, a law firm in which Ms. Sheli
Rosenberg’s (a trustee of the Company) husband is a partner, provided
legal services to the Company. Fees paid to this firm amounted to $29,146,
for the year ended December 31,1998.

In addition, the Company has provided acquisitions, asset and property
management services to certain related entities for properties not owned
by the Company. Fees received for providing such services were

approximately $5.6 million, $5.7 million and $6.7 million for the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.
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22 ● Quarterly Financial Data ~Unau&ted)

The following unaudited quarterly data has been prepared on the basis of
a December 31 year end. The 1998 and 1997 net income per weighted
average Common Share amounts have been presented and, where

appropriate) restated to comply with Statement of Financial Accowting
Standards No. 128, Earnings Per Share. For further discussion of net
income per weighted average Common Share outstanding and impact of
Statement No. 128, see Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements. Amounts are in thousands, except for per share amounts.

First Second Third Fouth
1998 Quarta 3/31 Quarter 6/30 Quuter 9/30 QuMter 12/31
Toti revenues $286,341 $307,050 _ $ 3~9,299 $404,759
Income before

auocation

to Minority Interests $ 61,275 $. 72,357 _ $ 6~102 $ 82,001
Net income $ 57,587 _S 67~35 _ $ ~,572 $ 76312
Net income available

to CommonShares $ 35>895 $ 46,043 $_34>881 $ 48,470
Weighted averageCommon

Shares outstanding 93,361 f17,405 97,089 43,440
Net income per

w,tightedaverage
Common Share

outstanding $ 0.38 $ 0.47 _ $ _ fJ.36 _ $_ 0.43~
Net income per

weighted,average
Common Share
outstanding–
assumingdilution $ 0.38 _ $_ 0.47_ ~ Ox _$ %42

First Second Third Fourth
1997 Quarter 3/31 Qusrter 6/30 Quarter 9/30 Qumter 12/31
Toti revenues $~41,387 $164,937 _ $ 20~54 $ ~7,643
Income before allocation

to ~oti Int~es6 $ 36,388v $ 38,628 ,$ ~320
Net income ___ S 32,962

$_64516
$ ~5,709 $ 47234 $ 60,687-”

Net income avNabIe

to Common Shsres $_23,901 $ 23,831 $ ~>886 $ 38,962
Weightedaverage Common

Shares outstanding 51,791 58940 _73,757 78,050
Net income per

weightedaverage

Comon Shsre
outstanding $ 0.46 $ 0.40

Net it]come per
_ $ _o.42 _ $_ o.5g

weightedAverage
Common Shsre
outstanding –
assumingdilution $ 0.45 $ 0.40 $ 0.41 $ 0.49

23 ● Reportable Segments

The following tables set forth the reconciliation of net income and total
assets for &e Company’s reportable segments for the years ended
December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 (see also Note 5 for fither
discussion).,

Rental Corporate/
1998 (h,unfi ;s Tbo,,,anh) Red Estate (1) Other (2) Consolidated
Rental income $1,293,560 $- $1,293,560
Propertysnd

maintenanceexpense (326,567) (326,567)
Real csme tax and

insursnce expense (126,009) (126,009)
PrOperV management

expense (52>705) (52,705)

Net operating income 788,279 788,279
Fee and asset

management income 5,622 5,622
Interest income -

invesunent in mortgage notes — 18,564 18,564
Interest and other income 19,703 19,703
Fee and asset

management expense (4,207) (4,20~
Depreciation expense

on non-real estate assets (5,361) (5,361)
Interest expensa

Expense incurred (246,585) (246,585)
Amortization of
deferred kancing costs

General and
(2,757) (2,757)

administrativeexpense (21,718) (21,718)
Preferred distributions (92,917) (92,917)
Adjustment for smordsation

of deferred fiantig costs
related to predecessor business 35 35

Adjustment for depreciation
expense related to equityin
unconsolidatedjoint ventures 183 183

Funds from operations
avsilableto Common Shares
and OP Units(unaudited) 788,279 (329,438) 458,841

Depreciation expense
on red estate assets (296,508) (296,508)

Gsin on &sposition of
properties, net 21,703 21,703

Income allocated to
Minority Interests

Adjustment for amortization
(18,529) (18,529)

of deferred financingcosts
related to predec~sor business — (35) (35)

Adjustment for depreciation
expense related to equityin
unconsolidatedioint ven~es (183) (183)

Net income availableto
Common Shaes $ 513474 $(3~8,185) $ 165>2S9

net of accumulated
depreciation _$10,208>l13 $ 15,459 S1O,223,572

Tod assets _ $10,237>999 _$ 462261 _$10>700,260
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Rental COqOrate/
1997 (ho,,”t*;“Bo,($.”h)

Rental Corporate/
Real Estate (1) Other (2) Consolidated 1996 fitiounfiin~ogranh)

Rental income $ 707,733
Red Estate (1) other (2) Consolidated

$- $ 707,733 Rental income $ 454.412 s– $454.412
Property and Property and

maintenance expense (176,075) (176,075) maintenance expense
Red estate tax and

(127,172) (127,172)
Red estate tax and

insuranceexpense (69,520) (69,520) insurance expense
Property management expense (26,793) (26,793)

(44,128) (44,128)
Property management expense (17,512)

Net operating income
(17,512)

435,345 435,345 Net operadng income 265,600 265,600

Fee and asset
managementincome 5,697 5,697

Interestincome
invesnnentin mortgagenotes 20,366 20,366

Interestand other income 13,525 13,525
Fee and asset

managementexpel]se (3,364) (3,364)
Depreciationexpense

on non-red estateassets — (3>118) (3,118)
Interestexpense

Expenseincwred (121,324) (121,324)
Amortizationof
deferredfinaacingcosts (2,523) (2>523)

Generaland
administrativeexpense (15,064) (15,064)

Preferreddistributions (59,012) (59,012)
AdIus~ent for amortization

of deferred financingcosts
related to predecessor business 235 235

Funds from operations
availableto Common Shares
and OP Units(unaudited) 435,345 (164,582) 270,763

Depreciation expense
on red estate assets (153,526) (153,526)

Gain on disposition
of prclpetties,net 13,838 13,838

Income allocated
to Minority Interests (13,260) (13;260)

Adjustment for amortization
of deferred tinancingcosts
related to predecessor business (235) (235)

Net income available
to Common Shares $ 295,657 $ (178>077) $ 117,580

Investment in realestate,
net of accumdated
depreciation $6,666,925 $ 9>748 $6,676,673

Total assets $6,666,925 $ 427,706 $7>094,631

Fee and asset
management income 6,749 6,749

Interest income -
investment in mortgage notes 12,819 12,819

Interest and other income 4,405 4,405
Fee and asset

management expense (3,83~ (3,837)
Depreciation expense

on non-red estate assets (2,079) (2,079)
Interest expense

Expense incurred — (81,351) (81,351)
Amortization of
deferred tiancing costs (4,242) (4,242)

General and
administrativeexpense (9,857) (9,857)

Preferred distributions (29,015) (29>015)
Adjustment for amortization

of deferred fiancing costs
related to predecessor business 1,075 1,075

Funds from operations
availableto Common Shares
and OP Units(unaudited) 265,600 (105,333) 160,267

Depreciation expense
on real estate assets (91,174) (91,174)

Gain on disposition
of properties, net 22,402 22,402

Write-off of unamortized
costs on rekanced debt — (3,512) (3,512)

Income allocated to
Mnotity Interests (14,299) (14,299)

Adjustment for amortization
of deferred finmcing costs
related to predecessor business (1,075) (1,075)

Net income available
to Common Shares $ 196,828 $ (124,219) $ 72,609

(l)The Company has one primary reportable business segment,
which consists of investment in rental real estate. The Company’s primary
business is owning, managing, and operating mdtiftiy residenti~
properties which includes the generation of rental and orher related
income through the leasing of apartment units to tenants.

(2)The Company has a segment for corporate level activity including
such items as interest income earned on short-term investments, interest
income earned on investment in mortgage notes, general and
administrative expenses, and interest expense on mortgage notes payable
and unsecured note issuances. In addition, the Company has a segment for
third party management activity that is immaterial and does not meet the
threshold requirements of a reportable segment as provided for in
Statement No. 131. Interest expense on debt is not allocated to individual
Properties, even if the Properties secure such debt. Further, income
allocated to Minority Interests is not docated to the Properties.

24 . Subsefjuent Events

On Jmuary 6, 1999 the Company disposed of Fox Run Apartments, a
337-unit mdtifamily property located in Little Rock, Arkansas, to an z
unafffiated third party for a total sales price of $10.6 million. This Proper~ “~

was classified as real estate held for disposition at December 31, 1998. $
On January 6, 1999 the Company disposed of Greenwood Forest

,-
:

Apartments, a 239-unit mtitifamily property located in Little Rock Arkansas, ~
to an unaffiated rhird patty for a total sales price of $7,5 million. This Property .=
was classified as real estate held for disposition at December 31, 1998. E
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On January 6,1999 the Company disposed of Walnut Ridge
Apartments, a 252-unit muhifamily property located in Little Rock,
Arkansas, to an unaffiliated third party for a total sales price of $7.9
million. This Property was classified as real estate held for disposition at
December 31, 1998.

On January 6,1999 the Company disposed of Williamsburg
Apartments, a 21l-unit muhifamily property located in Litde Rock,
Arkansas, to an unaffiliated third party for a total sales price of $6.7
million. This Property was classified as real estate held for disposition at
December 31,1998.

On January 22, 1999, the Company acquired Fiteside Park Apartments, a
236-tit mukifamily proper~ located in Rockville, Maryland, from an affiliated
party for a purchase price of approhately $14.3 miUion,which included the
assumption of mortgage indebtedness of approximately $8.9 rnill.ion.

On January 22,1999, tbe Company acquired Mill Pond Apartments, a 240-
unit multifamily property located in Glen Burnie, Maryland, from an affdiated
party for a purchase price of approximately 811.7 million, which included the
assumption of mortgage indebtedness of approximately $8 million.

On JanuaIy 27, 1999 the Company disposed of The Hawthorne
Apartments, a 276-unit multifamily property located in Phoenix, Arizona, to
an unaffiated third party for a total sales price of $20.5 million. This Property
was classfied as real estate held for disposition at December 31, 1998.

On January 28, 1999, the Company acquired Aspen Crossing
Apartments, a 192-unit multifamily property located M Wheaton,
Maryland, from an afffiated party for a purchase price of approximately
$11.4 million.

On February 24, 1999, the Company acquired Copper Canyon
Apartments, a 222-unit muhifamily property located in Denver, Colorado,
from an unafmated third party for a purchase price of approximately
$16.2 don.

On February 24,1999, the Company declared a $0.71 distribution per
Common Share, $0.585938 per Series A Preferred Share, ~0.570313 per
Secies B Depositary Share and per Series C Depositary Share, $0.5375 per
Series D Depositary Share, $0.4375 per Series E Preferred Share, $0.603125
per Series F Preferred Share, $0.453125 per Series G Depositary Share,
$0.4375 per Series H Preferred Share, $0.55125 per Series I Preferred Share,
$0.5375 per Series J Preferred Share, $1.03625 per Series 1<Preferred Share
and $0.4765625 per Series L Preferred Share for the quarter ended March
31,1999 to shareholders of record on March 19, 1999.

On February 25, 1999, the Company filed wih the SEC a Form S-3
Registration Statement to register 1,262,264 Common Shares (the “Resale
Shelf Registration”) of which 1,262,264 Common Shares maybe issued by
tie Company to holders of 1,262,264 OP Units. The SEC declared the
Resale Shelf Registration effective as of March 5, 1999.

On March 2, 1999 the Company disposed of The Atrium Apartments, a
208-unit multifamily property located in Durham, North Carolina, to an
unafffiated third party for a total sales price of $10.8 million.

On March 4, 1999, the Company acquired Siena Terrace Apartments, a
356-unit multifdy property located in Lake Forest, California, from an
unafftiated third party for a purchase price of approximately $33 million.



Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders
Equity Residential Properties Trust

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Equity
Residential Properties Trust (the “Company”) as of December 31, 1998
and 1997 and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 1998. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require tiat we plan and perform the audit to
obtti reasonable assurance about whether the fiancial statements are free
of material misstatement. & audit includes examinin g, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant esdmates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly in aUmaterial respects, the consolidated financial position of
Equity Residential Properties Trust at December 31, 1998 and 1997, and
the consolidated resuhs of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 1998, in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles.

Chicago, Illinois
Februa~ 17, 1999
exceptfor Note 24, as to whichthe datei~
March 5,,1999
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that holders of Equity Residential Properties Trust
securities receive financial information as soon as possible
after mailing, please advise the transfer agent of your new
address or change of name. Write to them directly at the
following address:
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or call, 1-800-733-5001
www.equiserve.com
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Form 1O-I< Availability

Requests for the Company’s Form 1O-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, and any other inquiries from
individuals md institutional investors, shotid be directed to:

Cyn~ia H. lMcHugh
Senior Vice President - Investor Relations
Equity Residential Properties Trust
Two North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
Phone: 1-888-879-6356

The Commission also maintains a web site that contains reports,
proxy information and statements, and other information regarding
registrants that fde electronically with the Commission.
The web site address is: http: //www.sec.gov.

Common Share Market Prices and Dividends

The Compmy’s common shares are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, ticker symbol EQR. The high and low sales prices for
1998 on the NYSE were as follows:

Dividend
High Low Close Paid

First Quarter 52~16 47 50% $.67
Second Quarter 52y16 44Y2 4’7?16 $.67
Third Quarter 47y, 34’Y16 42Y,, $.67
Fourd-I Quarter 437,6 38Y8 40y16 $.71

Dividend Reinvestment and Share purchase plan

The Company offers a Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase
Plan. For an infornration packet, including the Plan prospectus and
enrollment form, please call tie Plan Administrator, EquiServe,
at 1-800-337-5666.

Shareholders

There were approximately 6,100 registered owners, along with an
estimated 55,000 beneficial owners of Equity Residential Properties
Trust common shares as of December 31,1998.
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